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Interests.

Hon Donna Faragher MLC,
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In accordance with section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006,

I

hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual
Report for the Department for Communities for the year ended 30 June 2008.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Financial Management Act 2006.
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OVERVIEW

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
The Department for Communities (DfC) was created on 1 July 2007 after
Cabinet accepted the Ford Review recommendations. The Ford Review
recommended the abolition of the Department for Community Development
(DCD) and the establishment of two new agencies: the Department for Child
Protection and the Department for Communities.

The Department for Communities brings together the social policy offices from

the former Department for Community Development: youth, women, family
and domestic violence, and seniors interests and volunteering. It also includes
the multi-cultural and citizenship policy office from the Department of the
Premier and Cabinet and the new Redress Scheme. The department is also

responsible for children and family services, policy and programs, and,
importantly, the child care regulatory framework for the State.

It has been a challenging year for the department as we developed new
strategic directions and addressed the practical issues associated with
establishing a new organisation.

The involvement of stakeholders and the non-government sector is crucial to

the work of this department and, in October and November 2007, the
department held a series of focus groups with communities of interest. These
consultations together with research undertaken on a national and
international level helped inform the department's new focus on social
inclusion. A socially inclusive society can be defined as one where all people
feel valued, their differences are respected and their basic needs are met so
they can live in dignity.
While Western Australia is enjoying the benefits of a strong economy, it is well

documented that improvements in living standards, health and general
prosperity have not been evenly distributed. The commitment to social
inclusion signals a change in strategic direction for the department and builds

on previous work with women, seniors, carers, youth and people from
culturally and linguistically diverse communities.

The department continued to support the State Government's Human
Services Industry Roundtable. The Roundtable is a high level strategic body
comprising Government Ministers, Members of Parliament and senior
executives from the public sector and peak non-government bodies. It was
established to strengthen the relationship between the Government and nonGovernment sectors, to promote proactive and consistent policy approaches
and to identify strategies to build the capacity of the non-Government sector.
Its current priority is to address workforce industry issues such as recruitment
and retention, and the development of a Standard Chart of Accounts.
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The department took responsibility for the State Early Childhood Agenda from
1

January 2008 and is now the lead agency in the Council of Australian

Governments' (COAG) Early Childhood Reform Agenda. The department is
represented on four key national working groups and expert panels, and is
coordinating the development of State implementation plans in the following
areas:

universal access for four year olds to quality early learning
early learning and care centres and
children and family centres.

In addition, the department is playing a central role in COAG initiatives to raise

the quality of early education and care, and to develop the early childhood
workforce. These initiatives are critical to improving outcomes for children
across the State.

Throughout the year the department provided policy advice and support to
both the Minister for Communities; Women's Interests; and Seniors and
Volunteering, the Hon Sue Ellery, and the Minister for Multicultural Interests;
Citizenship and Youth; the Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich on wide ranging issues from
age-friendly cities to family and domestic violence within culturally and
linguistically diverse communities.

The department set up processes for the State Government's $ 114 million
Redress WA scheme which provides support to adults who, as children and
young people, were abused and/or neglected while in the care of the State.
Redress WA is designed to help people move forward with their lives by
providing an acknowledgement of the abuse and an apology from the State
Government, access to support services such as psychological, legal and
financial counselling, an ex gratia payment, and help with the application
process.

The Department for Child Protection will continue to provide financial, human
resource and information technology support to the department until 2010,
when these functions will be transferred to Shared Services in Cannington. As
directed by the Department of Treasury and Finance, the Department for Child
Protection continued to control the assets and liabilities of the two
departments until 1 July 2007. Owing to this significant restructure and in

accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 949(5), there is no disclosure of
comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2008.

The department is implementing a wide range of initiatives to promote health
and safety, good corporate governance and ethical behaviour among staff.

The successful initiatives, services and quality policy work detailed in this
annual report would not have been possible without the high calibre of staff

employed by this department. They have shown great dedication and
professionalism in a time of significant organisational change and I commend
their efforts to you.
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The advice and support provided by the department's reference groups and
consultative committees has also been invaluable. I would like to take this
opportunity to express my personal appreciation to all concerned.

Susan Barrera
DIRECTOR GENERAL
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE
ENABLING LEGISLATION

The Department for Communities was established on

1

May 2007 and

became operational on 1 July 2007. It is established as a department under
the Public Sector Management Act 1994.
RESPONSIBLE MINISTERS

During the reporting period the department reported to the following Ministers:
Sue Ellery MLC
Minister for Child Protection; Communities, Women's Interests; Seniors and
Volunteering
Ljiljanna Ravlich MLC

Minister for Local Government; Racing and Gaming; Multicultural Interests
and Citizenship; Government Enterprises; Minister Assisting the Minister for
Planning and Infrastructure; Goldfields-Esperance; Youth
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chief Executive Officer of the Department is Ms Susan Barrera. Susan is

also the Accountable Authority, as prescribed under section 52 of the
Financial Management Act 2006.
VISION / MISSION

The department's vision is for
"Strong, vibrant communities where all individuals and groups feel they belong
and matter.'"
The department's mission is

"To provide a focal point for policy development, program delivery and
community engagement within an over-arching social inclusion framework."

Key Objectives

Strategic Directions

o

Leading the early childhood agenda

o

Building strong, participative communities

o

Targeting equality of opportunity, social inclusion and respect

o

Strengthening non-Government partnerships

1 DfC Strategic Framework 2008-2013
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ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE

Office of the Director General

The Director General is the department's Accountable Authority and is
responsible for the management and performance of the department and the
overall achievement of its approved strategies and outcomes. The Office of
the Director General has responsibility for ministerial support and liaison and
internal audit. The office also provides advice to the Director General and
departmental executive and engages with other government departments.

Children and Family Services
Through the Children and Family Services Division the department provides
programs to support and enhance family wellbeing. The division also licences
child care services and promotes safe child care.

Policy and Planning
The Policy and Planning Division provides strategic policy development and
advice, policy co-ordination, analysis and information to support departmental
objectives. The division incorporates six principal policy focus areas (social
inclusion, seniors, carers, volunteering, family and domestic violence and
women) and undertakes programs in these areas.

Office of Multicultural Interests and Citizenship
Through the Office of Multicultural Interests and Citizenship the department
assists in delivering the State Government's commitments set out in the
Western Australian Charter of Multiculturalism. The office promotes the ideals
of multiculturalism to public sector agencies and the community and develops
and seeks to influence policies that reflect the principles of multiculturalism.
Redress WA

Redress WA is a scheme administered by the department on behalf of the
State Government. The Redress Scheme is designed for adults who, as
children, were abused or neglected whilst in State care.

Community Engagement
The Community Engagement Division manages the department's community
funding programs and its funding to non-government organisations. It also
manages events associated with departmental programs and is responsible
for communications with the public through the production of departmental
publications and brochures. The division also administers youth policy and
programs to promote the interests of young Western Australians.
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Resources

The Resources Division manages the overall delivery of corporate support
services which includes financial management,
human resource
management, Information Communication Technologies (ICT) and corporate
governance. The directorate also manages the Service Level Agreement with
the Department for Child Protection.
ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

as at 30 June 2008
Sue Ellery MLC

Ljiljanna Ravlich MLC

Minister for Child Protection Communities
Women's Interests Seniors and Volunteering

Minister for Local Government Racing and Gaming Multicultural Interests and
Citizenship Government Enterprises Minister Assisting the Minister for Planning and
Infrastructure Goldfields Esperance Youth

Susan Barrera
Director General

Office of the
Director General

Internal Audit
Executive Services
Ministerial Liaison

Bradley Jolly
AlExecutive Director
Policy & Planning

Helen Creed
AlExecutive Director
Children & Family Services

Jane Ensor
AlExecutive Director
Redress WA

Ellis Griffiths
AlExecutive Director
Office of Multicultural Interests

Service 1 & 2

Service 3

Service 4

Service 5

Child Care Licensing & Standards Unit
Children's Policy
Early Years
Parenting Services
Children's Services Officers
Family Services

Seniors Interests
Carers
Women's Policy
Family & Domestic Violence
Volunteering
Social Inclusion

Redress Scheme for adults
who as children were abusec
or neglected in State care

Policy & Planning
Community Engagement
Community Grants & Funding

=.

I

_..._

Fiona Lander
AlExecutive Director
Community Engagement

Events Management
Community Funding
NGO Partnerships
Youth
Communications
Publications
Intro I Internet Development

Alexander Watt
AlExecutive Director
Resources

Financial Management
Human Resource Management
Risk Management
Asset Management
Business Improvement
Business Planning
Budget Strategy
Annual Reporting
Managing SLA with DCP
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ORGANISATIONAL VALUES

We value
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

The voices and strengths of communities
Community ownership
Diversity and inclusivity
Social justice
Citizenship
Collaboration with our working partners
The talents of our staff
Flexibility and innovation

SENIOR OFFICERS

As at 30 June 2008

Director General
Susan Barrera
Ms Barrera was appointed to the position of Acting Director General of the
Department for Communities in March 2008. Prior to this, she was Executive
Director of Labour Relations in the Department of Consumer and Employment
Protection (DoCEP) for several years. Susan's previous role was Chief of
Staff to Minister John Kobelke. While in the Minister's office she worked on
policy issues in consumer and employment protection, public sector
management, training, Indigenous affairs and water resources. Susan has
also worked as a private consultant undertaking projects with state and
national clients in labour relations, human resource management, training and
organisational development.

A/ Executive Director, Children & Family Services
Helen Creed
A social worker by background, Ms Creed's working career has emphasised
her commitment to social justice, contributing significantly at state, national
and international levels through positions across government, the union
movement and the community. In 2006 Helen joined the Western Australian
public sector as Executive Director of the Office for Women's Policy and in
May 2007 was seconded to DoCEP to work as Western Australia's Fair
Employment Advocate. She returned to this department in May 2008 as the
Acting Executive Director of the Children and Family Services Division.

A/ Executive Director, Policy & Planning
Bradley Jolly
Mr Jolly was appointed Acting Executive Director, Policy and Planning in
October 2007. Prior to joining the Western Australian Public Sector in 2001 he
held a number of senior management positions with private sector
organisations. Brad has also worked in senior regulatory roles with the
Department of Consumer Employment Protection, Department for Community
Development and more recently within the Department for Communities.
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A/ Executive Director, Multicultural Interests and Citizenship
Ellis Griffiths
Mr Griffiths was appointed Acting Executive Director, Office of Multicultural
Interests on 22 June 2006. He had previously been on secondment from the
Department of Culture and the Arts, to the Intergovernmental Relations Unit of
DPC to coordinate the negotiations of a bilateral agreement between the
Western Australian and the Commonwealth Governments on Indigenous
Affairs. Ellis started his career in the public sector in 1980 following ten years
of experience as a community worker and training consultant. He has held
executive level positions in the then Department of Youth, Sport and
Recreation, the Youth Affairs Bureau, the Office of the Family, the Department
for Community Development and the Department of Culture and the Arts.

A/ Executive Director, Redress WA
Jane Ensor
Ms Ensor has been recently appointed as Acting Executive Director, Redress
WA having been involved in developing the Redress WA scheme since April
2007. Prior to this Jane has practised as a senior solicitor with the
Department for Child Protection advising in the areas of personal injury and
criminal injuries compensation. She has also worked extensively in family law
litigation and advice, and has successfully developed and managed a family
law section in private practice.

A/ Executive Director, Community Engagement
Fiona Lander
Ms Lander was appointed to the position of Acting Executive Director,
Community Engagement in July 2007. In this role, Fiona has responsibility
for the Office for Youth as well as the department's Non-Government Funding
and Community Relations Units. Fiona has extensive experience in public
administration, at State and Commonwealth levels, having held a variety of

senior policy roles relating to the key areas of multiculturalism, seniors,
children and youth, homelessness and suicide prevention.

A/ Executive Director, Resources
Alexander Watt
On secondment from the Department of the Attorney General as of
24 February 2008, Mr Watt is appointed to the position of Acting Executive
Director Resources and is the departments' designated Chief Finance Officer.
Alex has qualifications in business and is a member of the Australian Society
of Certified Practising Accountants. He more recently undertook a senior role
in the successful establishment and consolidation of the work of the State
Administrative Tribunal which is Western Australia's first super tribunal. Alex
is a long-serving senior public officer and has held positions in the
Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission, Disability Services

Commission, Department Education and Training and prior to that in the
banking sector.
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ADMINISTERED LEGISLATION

As at 30 June 2008, the department administered the following legislation on
behalf of the Minister for Child Protection; Communities, Women's Interests;
Seniors and Volunteering:
Carers Recognition Act 2004
Child Care Services Act 2007
Volunteers and Food and Other Donors (Protection from Liability) Act 2002
Child Care Services (Child Care) Regulations 2006
Child Care Services (Family Day Care) Regulations 2006
Child Care Services (Outside School Hours Care) Regulations 2006

Child Care Services (Outside School Hours Family Day Care) Regulations
2006
Child Care Services Regulations 2007

OTHER KEY LEGISLATION IMPACTING ON THE DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITIES

In the performance of its functions the Department for Communities complies
with the following written laws:
Auditor General Act 2006
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
Disability Services Act 1993
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Financial Management Act 2006
Freedom of Information Act 1992
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
Public Sector Management Act 1994
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
State Records Act 2000
State Superannuation Act 2000
State Supply Commission Act 1991
Workers' Compensation Reform Act 2004
In

the

financial

administration

of

the

Department for Communities,

management has complied with the requirements of the Financial
Management Act 2006 and every other relevant written law, and exercised
controls that provide reasonable assurance that the receipt and expenditure of
moneys and the acquisition and disposal of public property and incurring of
liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions. At the date of
signing, management is not aware of any circumstances that would render the
particulars included in this statement misleading or inaccurate.
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
OUTCOME BASED MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Better Planning Better Futures A Framework for the Strategic Management
of the Western Australian Public Sector is a concise statement of the State
Government's intentions to improve the quality of life for all Western
Australians. The framework is built around five strategic goals that contribute

to achieving the government's vision to provide the best opportunities for
current and future generations. The following table illustrates the relationship
between the Department for Communities' agency-level desired outcomes
and the most appropriate government goal.

Table 1
Government Goal Desired Outcomes
Enhancing the quality of life
and wellbeing of all people
throughout Western Australia
by providing high quality,
accessible services.

Service

Communities are
strengthened so that
individuals and families are
able to better meet their

1. Community and family support

needs.

4. Redress scheme for children and young people
abused in the care of the State

A Western Australian public
sector which recognises that
Western Australians play a
significant role in setting
policies that shape their
society, and in which there is
widespread acceptance of
the principle of
multiculturalism to enable the
achievement of substantive
equality for culturally and
linguistically diverse
communities.

5. Promotion and support of multiculturalism in
Western Australia

2. Child care services
3. Strategic policy and coordination

The relationship of Ministers to services is shown below:

Table 2
Responsible Minister
Minister for Child Protection; Communities; Women's
Interest; Seniors and Volunteering

Service
1. Community and family support
2. Child care services

3. Strategic policy and coordination (except Youth)
4. Redress scheme for children and young people abused in
the care of the State
Minister for Local Government; Racing and Gaming;
Multicultural Interests and Citizenship; Government
Enterprises; Minister Assisting the Minister for
Planning and Infrastructure; Goldfields-Esperance;
Youth

3. Strategic policy and coordination (Youth)
5. Promotion and support of multiculturalism in Western
Australia
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CHANGES To OUTCOME BASED MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Department for Communities was established in May 2007 and became
operational on 1 July 2007 as a result of the recommendations of the Ford
Review and subsequent abolition of the Department for Community
Development. An interim Outcome Based Management framework had been

approved by the State Government's Outcome Structure Review Group
(OSRG) based in the Department of Treasury and Finance in March 2007.

In December 2007 the department made a submission to the OSRG
proposing three changes to the previously approved framework. The changes
addressed the following areas:

Redress Scheme
A new function had been established within the department to address
the need to compensate children and young people who were abused
whilst in the care of the State prior to 1 March 2006. This scheme
requires a separate service to be created to enable information to be
separately identified in the budget statements and annual report.

Refinement to Performance Indicators

There was a need to refine performance indicators in the areas of
Children and Youth, and the Office of Multicultural Interests to bring a
greater level of consistency across the department and to recognise
that the department reports to two Ministers. Minister Ravlich was
responsible for the Youth and Multicultural components of the
department's remit. Minister Ellery was responsible for all other
services undertaken by the department.
The OSRG endorsed the proposed changes submitted by the department as

an interim arrangement subject to a major review of the OBM framework
being undertaken by the department during 2008-09 in readiness for the
2009-10 Budget.

For detailed reports on Indicators of Effectiveness and Efficiency refer to page
83.

SHARED RESPONSIBILITIES WITH OTHER AGENCIES

The Department for Communities did not share any responsibilities with other
agencies in 2007-08.
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AGENCY PERFORMANCE
REPORT ON OPERATIONS
The following is a summary of highlights from the financial statements
comparing actual results with budget.

Table 3
2007-08

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS
Total Cost of Services
Service Appropriation from State Government
Total Income from State Government
Surplus / (Deficit) for the Period
Total Assets
Total Liabilities
Total Equity
Net Increase / (decrease) in cash held
Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of Period

Actual (1)
$'000
40,297
36,699
39,343
913
45,019
4,017
41,002
1,371

3,975

Actual

KEY STAFFING INDICATOR
Approved Full Time Equivalent (FTE) staff level

Budget(2)
$'000
37,987 (4)
34,380 (5)
31,230
742
30,374
3,247
27,127 (6)
747
1,650

Target

Variation(3)
$'000
2,310
2,319
8,113
171

14,645
770
13,875
624
2,325

Variation

FTE

FTE

FTE

192.6

217

(24.4)

(1)

Refer to Financial Statements section of the Annual Report.

(2)

Revised Budget/Target for 2007-08 for the department as stated in the
Budget Statements for 2008-09.

(3)

Further explanations are also contained in Note 36 'Explanatory Statement' to
the Financial Statements.

(4)

Total cost of services in 2007-08 was greater than the published budget figure
by $2.1 million. The total cost of services estimate in the Government's 200708 Mid-Year Review was adjusted to $43 million to reflect the new funding for
the introduction of the Redress WA Scheme and the Community Concession
and Rebate Campaign.

(5)

Adjustments to service appropriation for 2007-08 of $2.3 million relate to
additional funding received for the introduction of the Redress WA Scheme,

new Community Concessions and Rebates Campaign, and the
continuation of Integrated Service Centres at Parkwood and Koondoola
Primary Schools. In addition, the department received increased funding
the

under the Salaries and Allowances Act for the Director General's salary and
the Shared Services Harvest was reinstated.
(6)

The Total Equity / Net asset position for the Department on 30 June 2008
increased by $13.87 million compared with the 2007-08 budget. This
increase was as a result of a revaluation of non current assets made during
the 2007-08 financial year.

17

Department for Communities

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 2008
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following is a summary of the Key Performance Indicators comparing
actual results with targets. For a more detailed description of the KPIs refer to
page 83.

Table 4
2007-08

Target2
Variation
Result
Outcome 1
Communities are strengthened so that individuals and families are able to better meet
their needs.

Effectiveness Indicators
Percentage of customers who report they were
atisfied with the service
Number of substantiated breaches of
regulations arising from allegations per licensed
hild care service
Percentage of stakeholders who report they
ere satisfied with policy and coordination
rojects

97%

95%

2%

0.016

0.03

(0.014)

88%

90%

(2%)

Average cost

$132,330

$133,295

($965)

Child Care Services Average cost per licensed

$5,639

$4,995

$644

Efficiency Indicators
Community and Family Support

er service
ervice
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination
project for youth
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination
project for children and families
A verage cost per strategic policy/coordination
project for seniors
Average cost per seniors card
A verage cost per strategic policy/coordination

$297,662

$435,138 ($137,476)

$173,030

n/a

n/a

$70,695

$71,806

($1,111)

$3.08
$102,691

$3.35
$129,449

($0.27)
($26,758)

$71,912

$78,739

($6,827)

roject for volunteers
A verage cost per strategic policy/coordination

roject for women
A verage cost per strategic policy/coordination
$136,680 $277,325 ($140,645)
roject for family and domestic violence
Outcome 2
A Western Australian public sector which recognises that Western Australians play a

significant role in setting policies that shape their society, and in which there is
widespread acceptance of the principle of multiculturalism to enable the achievement
of substantive equality for culturally and linguistically diverse communities.

Effectiveness Indicators
Extent to which the principles of multiculturalism
are accepted and practiced in Western Australia
Extent to which policies and practices of public
ector agencies reflect the principles of
multiculturalism

64%

65%

(1%)

77%

75%

2%

$61,185

$61,727

($542)

Efficiency Indicators
Average cost per policy project/initiative for
multiculturalism

2 Budget Statements 2007-08
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SERVICE 1: COMMUNITY AND FAMILY SUPPORT

Parenting Services
Parenting services are designed to assist parents to develop skills, knowledge

and confidence in their parenting roles. Many communities in Western
Australia are growing rapidly and it is common for families to live great
distances away from their extended families and friends giving rise to a
need for services to help them build new support networks within their local
communities.

Parenting coordinators provide information and advice to parents and carers
of children (up to the age of 18 years) across the State. Information includes

books, videos, pamphlets, talks, workshops and parenting groups, with
opportunity for parents to speak one-on-one with coordinators and volunteers.

Eight departmental and five non-government Parent Link Services provide
home visits to help parents develop skills, knowledge and confidence in
parenting young children up to the age of five years.

Parenting Line/Parent Help Centre
The department's Parenting Line and Parent Help Centre at Mount Law ley

continued to operate during the year. The Parenting Line is a 24-hour
telephone service for parents and carers of children up to the age of 18 years.
The Parenting Line responds to a range of queries on matters including child

development, behaviour management, Family Court issues, and teenage
behaviour/conflict. During this reporting period 7,239 calls were received.

The Parent Help Centre provides workshops and information sessions in a
range of settings, including women's prisons, hospitals, schools and child
health clinics. During 2007-08 the centre worked with the Association for
Services to Torture and Trauma Survivors to develop an ongoing program
assisting refugees from Ethiopia with parenting issues.

Playgroup WA Workshop

The department has given Playgroup WA Inc. funding of $66,000 to run
workshops and provide resource materials on brain and emotional
development. The workshops will run in metropolitan and country locations to
starting July 2008. The workshops were developed in conjunction with Edith
Cowan University and are designed to increase parents' awareness of the
importance of brain and emotional development in young children.

Family Inclusion Network

During the year the Family Inclusion Network of Western Australia Inc.
(FINWA) was given $44,000 to assist with the development of its business
model. FINWA provides help to parents and grandparents of children who
have been placed in State care or who are at risk of having their children
removed from the family home.
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Best Start Services
Best Start Services engage with parents and extended family of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander children up to the age of five years, to ensure
children's needs are met and to improve their transition to school. The service
offers a range of activities including playgroups, home visits and workshops.

The Best Start Program transferred to the Department for Communities in
October 2007 with 12 services being managed directly by the department and
three non-government services supported by the department.

Consistent with the Ford Review, the department has strengthened support to
the program through the appointment of a senior indigenous early childhood
officer and provision of support through team leader positions. In addition a
Best Start Strategic Plan 2008 2010 was developed during the year.

The department was also successful in securing funding under the Australian
Government's Universal Access to Early Childhood Education: Increasing
Access of Indigenous Children to Early Childhood Education. The Department
for Communities has access to funding for the period May 2008 April 2009

to establish three new Best Start Programs in South Lake, Mullewa and
Marble Bar. The funding also provides for an additional 0.6 senior officer
indigenous early childhood to assist with the establishment of these programs.
The overall satisfaction with the Department for Communities' Community and
Family Support Programs is consistent with 98% of respondents to consumer

satisfaction surveys, reporting being satisfied or very satisfied with the
services they have received.

Early Years Strategy

The Early Years Strategy was initiated in 2003 as an across-government
strategy to improve the wellbeing of children up to eight years of age. As part
of its commitment to the strategy, the department supported 25 early years

sites in 2007-08. In addition, funding of $69,946 was allocated to two
projects. Extra Edge Community Services Inc. ($34,946) and the City of
Cockburn's Reach All Kids Early Project ($35,000). Extra Edge will provide

support and information to parents of children up to the age of four in
conjunction with the Boronia Pre-Release Centre. Reach All Kids Early will
engage difficult-to-reach parents, in particular Aboriginal and culturally and
linguistically diverse families, in the Coolbellup/Hamilton Hill area.

Several early years networks have been set up across the state to develop
initiatives for children up to the age of eight. The Foothills and Albany
networks each received grants of $100,000 over two years from the
department for early years projects in 2007-08 and 2008-09. The Foothills
Early Years Community Partnership received funds for a coordinator and to
assist with the establishment of early years programs in the Forrestfield,
Maida Vale and High Wycombe areas. The Rainbow Coast Neighbourhood
Centre received funding for the Albany Teenage Parenting Centre which will
run a new program for parents aged between 15 and 25 years. The program
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will provide these parents with essential parenting skills and help them
connect with the local community.

Early years activity funding, is also provided by the department. Each year
$10,000 is allocated to each metropolitan district and $15,000 to each country

district annually to enable community groups, communities of interest and
organisations to undertake early years activities using this funding.

Children's services officers provide support to child care services in relation to

quality issues and to assist with the establishment and sustainability of
community managed child care services. Children's services officers also
support family and neighbourhood centres and early years sites and activities.

Refreshing the Early Childhood Agenda
Following the Ford Review the department has been charged with refreshing
and broadening the previous early years strategy as an across government
and community focussed Early Childhood Agenda. Responsibility for the
agenda transferred to the department in January 2008.

Since that time, the focus of the department's work has been on supporting
the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) reform agenda for early
childhood. This agenda represents a significant commitment by both levels of
government to early childhood, across health, education, development and
care.

The department has taken a lead role in State Government negotiations with
the Commonwealth on implementation of Commonwealth election
commitments, including the introduction of quality standards and a rating
system for services for children up to the age of five; an early years learning
and development framework; data; workforce development and universal
access to 15 hours of pre-school (kindergarten) with a qualified teacher in
public and private settings.
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SERVICE 2: CHILD CARE SERVICES

Child Care Licensing
The responsibility for child care licensing transferred from the Department for
Child Protection to the Department for Communities with the commencement
of the Child Care Services Act 2007, gazetted on 10 August 2007. Minor
amendments were subsequently made to the child care regulations including
the title "To ensure the protection of those reporting allegations of child abuse
within child care services".

At 30 June 2008, there were 1,413 licensed child care services in Western
Australia, consisting of 563 child care centres, 639 family day care services,
208 outside school hours care centres and three outside school hours family
day care services. Combined, these services offer 41,498 child care places
throughout the State at any one time.

During the year, 23 complaints involving a regulatory breach were made to the

Child Care Licensing and Standards Unit. The department is currently
prosecuting two services with matters relating to breaches of Child Care
Services (Child Care) Regulations 2006.

The department has also issued a 21-day notice to a licensee to ensure that
repairs and maintenance of a service for which the licensee is responsible are
completed to prevent further action by the department. This action was taken
after consideration of advice from Work Safe and environmental health officers
from the local government authority.

The 2007-08 State Budget provided funding for a further 13 full-time
equivalent positions to be employed in the unit to enable annual visits to
services. During 2007-08 every operating licensed service received at least
one visit.

Child Care Regulations Consultative Committee
The

Child

Care

Regulations

Consultative

Committee (CCRCC) met

throughout 2007 to develop a consultation process with the community and
child care sector on the further development of regulations under the Child
Care Services Act 2007. The CCRCC Children's Services Regulations
Review Discussion Paper 2007 was launched by the Minister for
Communities, the Hon Sue Ellery MLC on 16 July 2007 opening a threemonth public consultation period.

Report on the Child Care Regulations Review
Consultations for the review included: metropolitan workshops and rural video

conferences; online surveys for the child care sector and parents; a
metropolitan Indigenous child care workshop; a metropolitan additional needs
workshop; a metropolitan stakeholder workshop; a series of focus groups for
parents and child care staff; and a survey of children in outside school care.
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In total 1,164 contributions were received which provided the basis for the
Report on the Child Care Regulations Review (the report).

Table 5
Consultation method
Workshops child care sector workshops metro
Workshops child care video conferences rural
Focus groups child care staff/parent workshops
Workshop stakeholders' workshop
Workshop ATSI workshop
Workshop CaLD/disability workshop
Child care sector surveys online
Child care sector surveys hard copy
Parent surveys online
Parent surveys hard copy
Children's surveys
Written submissions

Total number of contributions

No. of participants
229
80
38
22
7
13

263
69

274
83
34
52

1,164

The report was tabled in Parliament on 15 May 2008. The Minister for
Communities endorsed the 28 majority recommendations and an
implementation and communication plan to implement the report's
recommendations was developed.

The department has been working closely with representatives from rural and
remote areas to develop an alternative model of child care services
regulations. The 'single staff model' is specifically targeted to meet the needs
of small rural communities, who are finding it difficult to establish a child care
service in their area. The draft regulations are expected to be completed at
the end of September 2008.

Occasional Child Care Program Review
The Occasional Child Care Program Review 2006-07 was presented to the
Minister in January 2008. The review highlighted the strong community
support for the program, recognising the benefits of the developmental nature
of the program and the flexibility of the model for small rural communities.
The review also acknowledged the challenges with regard to financial viability
and workload for the community-based committees managing these services.
Implementation of the review recommendations has commenced in
consultation with the occasional care management committees and other key
stakeholders.

During the year, the department began developing an information package to
assist individuals, companies and organisations considering establishing a
licensed child care service. The package will include a comprehensive
overview of the obligations and responsibilities with respect to Western
Australian child care legislation, and provide potential licence applicants with
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an understanding of the role of other government departments and agencies
involved with establishing and operating a child care business.

Child Care Advisory Committee
During 2007, the Child Care Advisory Committee presented information and
advice to the Minister on a variety of issues including a State Integrated Child
Care Strategy, Indigenous rural and remote child care, workforce
development, child care regulations and children's services industry planning.
The committee also actively participated in the review of child care regulations
with representation on the Child Care Regulations Consultative Committee.
The inaugural chairperson, Tim Muirhead was farewelled in December 2007.
His replacement Cheryl Davenport was appointed in early 2008. Other vacant
committee positions have been filled with members being appointed for a 3year term. The committee is finalising the key priorities and work plan for its
2008-10 term.

Early Childhood Policy Development
The early years are of critical importance to children's development. A priority
for the department is to promote a focus on children's early years and invest
in support for families and communities. Evidence shows that investing
resources early can provide greater gains for long-term child health and social
outcomes while preventing the occurrence or recurrence of maltreatment.
A key area of work for the department for 2007-08 has been the development

of the State response to the COAG reform agenda on early childhood. As
lead agency for the Early Childhood Agenda, the department is represented
on a number of high-level COAG working groups charged with improving
outcomes for children across health, education, development and care.

Reciprocal Procedures
The Department for Communities has developed reciprocal procedures with
the Department for Child Protection for managing the allegation of child abuse
in a licensed child care service. It is in the process of finalising equivalent
procedures with the Western Australian Police. These procedures will help to
ensure a coordinated approach when dealing with allegations of abuse and
help promote the safety and well being of children in child care services. The
procedures are supported by internal procedures developed by the
Department for Communities.
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SERVICE 3: STRATEGIC POLICY AND COORDINATION
SENIORS

As at 30 June 2007, there were approximately 352,222 seniors (people 60
years of age and over) in Western Australia, comprising 17% of the state's
population. It is predicted that, by 2031, more than one in four Western
Australians (28 %) will be a senior.

Population ageing is a worldwide trend and it is increasingly important that our
communities are suitable, or 'friendly' places for older people to live. An agefriendly community benefits people of all ages.
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people represent 4% of the total Western

Australian population but only 1% of people aged 65 years and over,
indicating that relatively few Indigenous Western Australians live to the age of
65.

Community Attitudes Towards Elder Abuse
Elder abuse is emerging as an issue of great importance. The department
conducted a major survey on community attitudes towards elder abuse.
Findings from the survey showed that many people believed older people:
should have the right to make their own financial decisions, should have the
right to refuse help and usually knew what was best for them. Nearly twothirds, however, believed older people could not always trust their children to
act in their best interests, regardless of whether they lacked mental capacity.

The research indicated a need to raise awareness about the issue of elder
abuse and the support services available. Two forums were held to launch
the report and promote awareness for World Elder Abuse Day in June.

Older People's Rights Service
The Older People's Rights Service, a legal and counselling service for older
people at risk of elder abuse was launched in June 2007. The department
supports the Northern Suburbs Community Legal Centre to run the service in
partnership with Advocare Inc. until June 2009. There is already strong
demand for the service.

Age-Friendly Indicators
The department assisted the World Health Organisation (WHO) to develop a

set of age-friendly indicators, Global Age-Friendly Cities: A Guide, which
incorporates the 'Checklist of Essential Features of Age-Friendly Cities'. In
2007-2008 the department has developed an Age-Friendly Communities
Research Framework to assist local authorities assess the age-friendliness of
their communities. The department has formed a three-way partnership with
the South-West Development Commission and Shire of Augusta-Margaret
River to pilot this framework in a regional area.
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Active Ageing Strategy
The Ten-year Active Ageing Strategy 2004-2010, continues to be a focus for
2008) has now
the department. The first phase of the Strategy (2004
ended. A final progress report on the outcomes of the Generations Together:
Report 2004-2008 has been produced. This assisted with the continuing
discussions with all government and non-government organisations to ensure
that State Government services and policies were better directed to meet the
demands of this rapid demographic change.

Under this strategy, the department provided funding to the South West
Development Commission for the development of the South West Active
Ageing Strategy.

Depression Initiative

'Healthy Parks, Healthy People' Program

The department worked in partnership with the Department of Environment
and Conservation to offer the Healthy Parks, Healthy People seniors parkbased activity program. The program was established to provide stimulating,
low-cost activities that would encourage seniors to explore opportunities that
were readily available to them and promote ongoing use of WA's natural
resources. Participants reported that the program was successful in getting
them to recognise the importance of the natural environment, getting them out

of their houses and interacting with others socially; and improving or
maintaining their physical fitness, emotional wellbeing and confidence.

Intergenerational Activities

The department supports opportunities for seniors' and young people to
participate together in intergenerational initiatives.
department
provided
approximately
$30,000
through
the
Intergenerational Activities Grants Program for new and extended projects in

The

the Mid-West and Great Southern regions to establish and enhance
intergenerational relationships.

The department provided eight grants for Grandfamilies Support Initiatives, to
support organisations to provide respite/short break initiatives for
grandfamilies within their local communities.

National Neighbour Day Event
Neighbour Day aims to encourage Australians to develop a greater sense of

community caring by encouraging them to look after the vulnerable and
isolated, especially those who live alone. The department hosted an event
with Andrew Hes lop, the founder of Neighbour Day, which highlighted the
benefits of maintaining social ties at the local level.
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Seniors Week 2007

Seniors Week celebrates seniors in the community and acknowledges their
contribution to the social and economic fabric of today's society. In Western
Australia, Seniors Week was held between Sunday 28 October and Sunday 4
November 2007. More than 10,000 Western Australians participated in a
range of events and activities.
During Seniors Week, the Department for Communities:
o

o

Organised the Bank West Seniors Awards and the Deborah Kirwan
Media Awards which attracted more than 120 applications.

Managed the Living Histories story exhibition at the Fremantle Arts
Centre which attracted more than 10,000 visitors.

o

Provided $23,500 in small project grants to local government
authorities and community organisations for events targeting seniors.

o

Promoted 120 senior events throughout the state.

WA Seniors Card Centre

The Western Australian Seniors Card Centre is located at Albert Facey
House, in central Perth and offers a one-stop-shop for information and referral
on a wide range of seniors' services and programs. Over the past year, 4,900
seniors have visited the centre.
A new Seniors Card Discount Directory was produced and more than 260,000

copies were mailed directly to Seniors Card holders. The new directory
included a 15% increase in the number of private sector business listings.
There are now 500 Western Australian businesses supporting the program
and providing discounts and special offers to Seniors Card holders.

The Seniors Card celebrated its 20th anniversary this year. The card was
launched in 1988. A celebration lunch was held for more than 200 seniors
who received their card in the first year. The State Government specially
recognises Senior Card holders when they turn 100. This year 40
centenarians were provided with a special "Gold Card" in recognition of this
important milestone.

The Seniors Telephone Information Service is staffed by 36 senior volunteers

who provide information and referral on a range of issues. The service
managed more than 14,500 calls in the past year. Seniors Card Centre
volunteers also run the Volunteer Speakers Program. During the year they
staffed more than 50 information stands and conducted presentations to small
groups on seniors issues, including Seniors Card eligibility, concessions and
business discounts. The presentations reached more than 2,400 seniors.
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CARERS

Caring for the aged and disabled is one of the most significant forms of unpaid
contribution to the community. Family members provide a great deal of this
care, reducing a burden that would otherwise be met by government.

In 20073, approximately one in six (16%) Western Australians aged 16 years
and over were carers, that is, they helped or supervised for no pay another
person who was elderly or had a long-term disability. This equates to more
than 250,000 Western Australians. However, this figure does not include
carers under the age of 16 years. People aged 60-69 years were more likely
than those aged 40-59 to be carers.

Just over half (56%) of carers lived with the person for whom they cared and
the same proportion were the primary carer of that person. It would appear
that the older the carer, the more likely they were to be the primary carer.
Two-fifths of carers (39%) cared for a parent or parent-in-law, while one-fifth
(22%) cared for a spouse or partner, and about one in seven (14%) cared for
a son, daughter or foster child.
Research conducted by the department found that carers were less likely than
non-carers to feel in control of their lives, to at least a reasonable extent.

Support for Carers
The department provided funding of approximately $501,000 to Carers WA to
operate the Carers Counselling Line and the Carer Health Awareness and
Retreats Program (CHARP). The counselling line is a specialised telephone
counselling service that carers can access anytime via a free 1800 telephone
number. It responds to approximately 4,800 calls per year. The CHARP
raises the awareness of carers' health with general practitioners and allied
health professions and with carers themselves.

The department provided an additional $14,000 to the CHARP program to
fund short breaks for young carers. The WA Carers Centre was opened in
April 2008. The department provided significant funding towards this project.

Carers Advisory Council

Compliance Measurement Framework

The department supported the Carers Advisory Council (CAC)

in

the

development of a framework for reporting compliance and performance with
the Carers Recognition Act 2004. The department also supported the CAC in
developing its second report to the Minister for Seniors on compliance by the
public health and disability sectors with the Carers Recognition Act 2004.

3 Department for Communities, Office for Seniors Interests and Carers, Community Attitudes
Survey 2007
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VOLUNTEERING

Volunteering has the dual benefits of making a vital contribution to the social
capital of the state and as a means of connecting people to their communities.
Volunteers are integral to the provision of many services throughout Western
Australia. The most recent statistics on the state of volunteering in Western
Australia are derived from the ABS Voluntary Work Survey 2006. The survey

reported that over 260,000 Western Australians volunteered their time in
2006, representing around 17% of the adult population.

Volunteer Resource Centres
Western Australia currently has more than 22 Volunteer Resource Centres
located across the state providing support to their local communities. The
department provides funding to 16 volunteer resource centres in country and
metropolitan areas which provide a linkage and referral service between
volunteers and local organisations. They also provide support, training and
information to organisations using volunteers, and promote volunteering.

Volunteer coordinators and their managers from 22 Volunteer Resource
Centres attended a joint training and planning meeting in 2007-08. Susan
Ellis, a world-renowned specialist in volunteer training from the United States

of America ran a workshop on the "Changing world of volunteering". She
discussed ways of recruiting and retaining volunteers and offered insights on
"virtual volunteering" a new way of engaging and expanding participation
options for busy people. Virtual volunteering is an especially productive tool
for organisations that cover a large geographic area.

Regional Volunteering Small Grants Program 2007

Statistically, country people volunteer at a higher rate than those in the
metropolitan area despite dealing with the challenges of competing demands
on volunteers for local services. The Regional Volunteering Small Grants

Program was developed to promote capacity building

in

local regional

communities.

Twenty four organisations in regional areas were approved funding of up to
$5,000. Recipients included Riding for the Disabled in Collie to provide
workshops to train volunteers, the Rural Community Legal Service in
Northam, to engage young people in volunteering to develop skills and work
ethics and the Ord Valley Muster, to train volunteers in first aid and develop a
volunteers manual.

Funding for the Pilbara to Support Volunteering
In mining areas such as the Pilbara, volunteering is in decline, partly due to

long working hours and "fly-in" "fly-out" workers who have little time to
contribute to their host communities.

The department provided funding to the Pilbara Development Commission to
help in the development of a Virtual Volunteer Resource Centre Pilot Project.
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The commission will develop a Pilbara-focused website and a data base and

search engine facility with links to existing volunteer websites and other
information. A comprehensive campaign will also be implemented to ensure
that the website is advertised and promoted widely across the region.

National Police Checks for Volunteer Programs
The department continued to work with Western Australian Police to provide
reduced-fee national police checks.
More than 12,000 checks were
completed under this program in 2007-08 with 2237 of these being free to

holders of Working with Children checks.

Since the introduction of the

program in 2003, more than 57,000 checks have been completed and almost
900 organisations registered.

Training and Development

In 2007-08 the Western Australian Council of Social Services was given
further funding to conduct one-day training workshops to deliver the Western
Australian Volunteering Essentials "WAVE" training package. The aim of the
program is to provide staff in community organisations with increased skills in
volunteer management, insurance, legal and compliance issues and
recruitment and retention. The workshops were held in six locations, including
Malaga, Forrestfield, Broome, Bunbury, Northam and Esperance. A total of
110 people participated in the sessions.

YOUTH

As at the 2006 Census, there were 360,310 young people aged 12 to 24
years living in Western Australia. They represented approximately 18% of the
state's total population. In 2007, it was estimated that the population of young
people in Western Australia had increased to more than 390,000.
In 2006, 4% of the state's young people aged 15 to 24 years were Indigenous,
26% were born overseas and more than half of these were from non-English

speaking backgrounds. Other than English, the most common languages
spoken by young people, were Chinese, Italian and Indonesian.

In 2007, more young people were living with two parents than with a lone
Of young people aged 15 to 24 years, 13% were in a registered
marriage or a de-facto marriage and 8% had children, with 1% being lone
parent.

parents.

In 2006, 61% of young people aged 15 to 24 years were employed, with 25%
of them working on a part-time basis. Of the total number of young people
aged 18 to 24 years, 31% also undertook unpaid volunteer work in 2006.

Policy and Programs

Alcohol has been identified as the major drug of concern in the Western
Australian community. The 2002 Australian School Students' Alcohol and
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Drug Survey found that 89% of Western Australian students aged 12 to 17
years, who had consumed alcohol in the week before being surveyed, said
they did not purchase their own alcohol.

In 2007, to assist parents in the key role they play in the development of
young people's attitudes towards drinking, the department and the Drug and
Alcohol Office developed a booklet titled Young People and Alcohol: helpful
information for parents. The publication was well received by parents, schools
and youth-related agencies. Consequently, in 2008 the department produced
a special flyer for secondary schools, Young People and Alcohol, to promote
awareness and usage of the booklet. Both publications are available on line

and 1,500 booklets and 20,000 flyers have been distributed during this
financial year.

Resilience expert Maggie Dent has been engaged to facilitate workshops on

adolescent resilience to parents, young people and professionals in 11
locations around the state. The workshops are designed to help service
providers and parents understand the different stages of adolescent brain
development and to provide them with tools to assist young people in getting
through the transition to adulthood. The workshops will be held in Bunbury,
Busselton, Albany, Geraldton, Kununurra, Broome, Perth, Moora, Kalgoorlie,
Esperance and Northam.

To help prevent suicide in young people, the department, in partnership with

the Ministerial Council for Suicide Prevention, is updating the publication
Understanding Youth Suicide . Often the first people to come into contact with
an at-risk young person are not mental health professionals. This resource is
designed for the wider community. It provides an overview of suicide risk and
provides advice on identifying and responding to situations involving at risk
young people.

Youth Development

The Office for Youth administers the Cadets WA Program, which aims to
provide opportunities for young people to develop self-confidence and lifeskills in a supportive training environment. In 2007-08, Cadets WA worked in
partnership with the Department of Education and Training, the Curriculum
Council, the Duke of Edinburgh's Award Scheme and host organisations to
ensure that cadets participated in challenging and rewarding activities and
that their participation was recognised through the State Government's
Community Service Program.

The Cadets WA Program opened four new cadet units in 2007-08. One was a
special Emergency Services Cadets Unit at the Mandurah Enterprise Centre.

This is the fourth Cadets WA unit to be established exclusively for young
people with learning disabilities.

While some established Cadets WA units were closed or suspended during
the year due to a loss of available staff, the program remains very popular
with young people. A review will be undertaken during the second half of 2008
to ensure that the Cadets WA Program remains relevant and focused on the
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needs of young people. As at 30 June 2008, 191 cadet units were operating
in Western Australia with a total enrolment exceeding 6,000 cadets.

Promoting Positive Images of Youth
The Positive Image Award 'Special Reward Day' was held in December 2007.
Celebrating its 10th anniversary in 2007, the award recognises students who
promote a positive image of young people within their schools and the wider
community. Twenty-nine students were acknowledged at a breakfast at
Government House.

Youth Advisory Councils
Youth Advisory Councils continued to be supported during 2007-08 by staff
from the department. Staff assisted with the coordination of the program,
attended council meetings, provided information and advice regarding grants
and liaised with coordinators on a regular basis. An updated program manual
is being developed by the department to assist councils meet the needs of
young people.

The department partnered with the Office of Multicultural Interests to deliver
the second annual Refugee Week Art Exhibition. Following the national
theme of 'A Place to Call Home', the exhibition featured the artworks of young
refugees from Intensive English Centres at Balga Senior High School, North
Lake Senior Campus and the Edmund Rice Centre.

Consultation and Participation
In May 2008 the department, the Office of the Commissioner for Children and

Young People and the Youth Affairs Council of Western Australia jointly
hosted a drug and alcohol issues consultation session with a group of young

people aged between 16 and 22. The young people talked openly and
honestly about issues relating to drug and alcohol use and many valuable
suggestions were made to improve the State Government's Drug and Alcohol
Strategy 2009-2013.

To further enhance our understanding of young people's needs, thoughts and
ideas, the department has developed an initiative called The Panel'. The aim

of this consultative mechanism is to create a comprehensive database of
young people who can be called upon by government and not-for-profit
organisations to participate in focus groups, online discussions and surveys
on a range of topical issues relating to youth. Since its inception 12 months
ago, The Panel' has gathered more than 120 members, who have been
involved in over 20 youth forums, committees, focus groups and surveys.

The department has developed an online directory, The Hive', of Western
Australian youth services available for young people. The directory is made
up of more than 700 youth organisations and includes information on the
services they provide, their operations, cultural focus and contact details. The

directory is an important resource designed to assist government and the
wider community in their support for young people.
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In addition to The Hive, the department has also developed The Met', a
directory of youth services available within the Perth metropolitan area for
young people. The directory contains contact details for services relating to
health, welfare, accommodation, education, training and employment, and
sport and recreation. The directory is in the form of a compact, easy-to-carry
z-card. The z-cards will be launched in July 2008 and distributed to secondary
schools, local governments and youth networks.

An event planning guide has been developed by the department to help
young people plan, organise and run youth events. The "Make It Happen..."
resource, which will be available online through the department's website,
contains relevant information, funding sources, websites,
organisations that can assist young people with event planning.

books and

The department will provide free advertising for young Western Australian
business owners and operators through the `u35 Online Business Directory'.
The directory is aimed at providing exposure for entrepreneurial young
Western Australian business owners and operators, to reward them for their
initiative and assist them in promoting and achieving their business goals.

Youth Grants WA
The Youth Grants WA Program provides funding support for initiatives and
activities that encourage youth participation and promote young people's
broad social health and wellbeing. The program provides opportunities for
community groups to run more extensive and targeted projects which benefit
young people at the local level. The Youth Grants WA program comprises:

Small Grants of up to $5,000
This category is for one-off grants to develop projects that encourage
young people to get involved in innovative and challenging community
projects and activities.

Sponsorships up to $10,000
These sponsorships are offered for projects that benefit young people
between the ages of 12 and 25 involving major events, seminars/training
or the development of educational/resource materials.

Special Project Grants up to $35,000
Special Project Grants of up to $35,000 are offered for projects that
address particular themes or priorities identified through the youth
portfolio, which are targeted for the benefit of young people between the
ages of 12 and 25 years and/or the youth sector more generally.

Youth Development Holiday Program
Responsibility for the Youth Development Holiday Program was transferred
from the Department for Child Protection to the Department for Communities
in the 2007-2008 financial year. The Youth Development Holiday Program

provides funding for community organisations to enable them to provide
activities for secondary school aged young people during the school holidays.
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The program has been designed to provide opportunities for young people to

reinforce positive behaviour, enhance self-esteem and improve personal
development. The program is delivered through a range of indoor and outdoor
activities that provide challenges in a supportive, social environment.

Youth Awards
The Western Australian Youth Awards were established in 1999 to ensure
young Western Australians aged between 13 and 25 years were recognised
for their achievements and contributions to the community. The awards also
reward outstanding youth groups or organisations providing services and
support to the state's young people. Another award, open to journalists,
photographers and producers, recognises excellence in media reporting of
young people and youth issues.

2007-2008, 158 nominations were received in the six youth award
categories active achievement; environment; inspiration; leadership and
In

individual and group citizenship awards. In the media reporting category, 70
nominations were received. The awards were presented by the Minister for
Youth, the Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich MLC at a ceremony attended by more than
400 people.

FAMILY AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Statistics obtained from Western Australian (WA) Police state that between
March 2007 and March 2008, 21 people in WA died as a result of physical
abuse by partners, ex-partners and other family members. During the same
period, WA Police were called to 33,200 family violence related incidents and
issued 8,300 police orders to remove perpetrators from the home in order to
protect women and children.
It is well documented that Aboriginal women are over represented as victims
of violence. In Western Australia, statistics have shown that Aboriginal
women are 45 times more likely to be the victim of family violence than nonAboriginal women and account for almost 50 per cent of all victims. (Ferrante
et a, 1996) Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women and those in rural
areas suffered greater levels of family and domestic violence then the rest of
the population. Disadvantaged families in lower socio-economic areas were
also over-represented in these statistics.

Children experience a range of harms as a result of exposure to family and
domestic violence. Evidence suggests that children and young people
exposed to family violence have a higher chance of experiencing violence as

adults, either as a perpetrator or victim. A report by WA Police in 2007
showed that children were victims (either directly or as a witness) of family
and domestic violence (FDV) in more than half of all FDV incidents. (Mann
2007)
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Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CaLD) Strategy
CaLD Family Violence Education Grants totalling $93,000 were provided to
elders and community and religious leaders to enable them to undertake
education and/or training that could help them tackle family and domestic
violence in their communities.
The grants program completes a range of initiatives that commenced in 20042005. These initiatives focused on supporting
victims, educating the
community
and raising awareness of family and domestic violence. The

initiatives enhanced the community's capacity to deal with family and
domestic violence.

State Family and Domestic Violence Strategic Plan
The Western Australian Family and Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan
2004-2008 is an across-government plan that involves key state government
agencies that respond to family and domestic violence. The plan identified
three priority areas for which agencies needed to develop yearly action plans
prevention, provision and protection. Four action plans and three progress
reports are available on the department's website.

The Department for Communities has established an across-Government
Senior Officer Group to assist in developing the next State Family and
Domestic Violence Strategic Plan. This plan will underpin government
departments' initiatives to tackle family and domestic violence.

Regional Coordinated Responses to Family and Domestic Violence

The Western Australian State Government has allocated funding for 14
Regional Coordination Responses to Family and Domestic Violence
(RCRFDV) located in six metropolitan and 80 country regions. The purpose of

the RCRFDV is to increase the safety of women and children affected by
family and domestic violence and improve perpetrator accountability. Eleven
RCRFDV are currently being implemented to coordinate family and domestic
violence services to achieve more consistent, appropriate and accountable
agency responses.

Freedom from Fear Campaign

The key findings and recommendations of the Freedom from Fear Review
report are being considered by the advisory group on Family and Domestic
Violence Prevention and Early Intervention, established by the Family and
Domestic Violence Unit.

The group's membership comprises key government, non-government and
academic representatives with particular expertise in the areas of family and
domestic violence and community education programs.
The group has begun developing a prevention and early intervention strategy
for inclusion in the Western Australian State Strategic Plan 2009-2012.
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`No More Violence

We're Breaking the Silence' Youth Resource

The department has undertaken an evaluation of the printed and on-line
resources developed for CaLD communities and young people. The
evaluation of CaLD resources has been completed and the feedback was
positive. The 'No More Violence We're Breaking the Silence' youth resource
is being evaluated by service providers and young people.

Speaking Out: Domestic Violence and People with Disabilities' Training
Manual

A manual and training program were developed and implemented by Nulsen
Haven Association with funding from the department.
`Speaking Out' is a training resource developed to bridge the gap between the
disability and family and domestic violence sectors in WA. It's designed to
inform and equip workers with skills and resources that better enable them to
respond to instances of family and domestic violence experienced by people
with disabilities under their care. Training has been conducted in 10 locations
across the state with approximately 30 people per location.

Development of a New Service Response In The East Kimberley to
Tackle Family and Domestic Violence.
The Department for Communities has been contracted by the Department for
Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs to develop a
proposal for a Hub and Spoke Service Model in the East Kimberley that will

tackle family and domestic violence.
initiative include
Wyndham.

Kalumburu,

The communities targeted by this

Oombulgurri,

Warmun,

Kununurra

and

The Federal Government has allocated $7 million over four years for this
service. The Department for Communities is undertaking an extensive
consultation process to inform the funding specifications for this service which
will be delivered through the non-government sector. It anticipates completing
this exercise sometime in December 2008.

WOMEN

The department provides whole-of-government strategic advice regarding the
impact of policies and programs on the status of women in Western Australia.

The four priority areas are: economic independence; safety and justice;
leadership and governance; and gender equity.

Economic Independence
Women continue to be overrepresented among low paid workers and continue
to earn less than their male counterparts. Women's increased participation in
the workforce has not reduced the burden of unpaid care for children, aged
relatives and dependants with disabilities. Some groups of women, such as
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women and women from culturally and
linguistically diverse communities, face more complex and demanding issues.
Initiatives implemented:
o
o

Research on women in low paid work.

Collaboration with the Department of Consumer and Employment
Protection and the Small Business Development Corporation to
implement recommendations of this research.

o A research paper on the Australian Government's welfare-to-work
o

legislation.
Evaluation of a pilot program to increase use of overseas trained CaLD
nurses, which also contributes to the national health registration
agenda.

Safety and Justice
The desired outcome for this area is that women feel safe and secure at work,
in their home and in the community.

An information paper highlighting major risk areas for women in the state was
completed. The Western Australian Women's Safety Framework was also
developed, which outlines how agencies can work together to improve the
safety of women in the community.

Leadership and Governance
To facilitate women's full participation in public life, particularly in leadership
roles, Western Australia has a target of 50% for female participation on public
sector boards and committees. In 2006, the participation rate was 30% and in
February 2008 female representation had increased to 33%.
During 2007-2008, the department:
o
o

o

Contributed to the National Strategy to increase the Participation of
Women on Government Boards and Committees.
Participated with the DPC in implementing and monitoring Taking the
Lead a whole of government action plan to increase representation of
women in senior management positions in the public sector.
In partnership with the Department of Local Government and Regional

Development supported the Western Australian Local Government
Women's Association to implement a community education strategy
o
o

which increased the number of women elected to local government.
Provided leadership training for public sector women with international
and state-based experts.

Provided five community women with community awards that would
enable them to learn from the experiences of interstate and
international models.

Indigenous Women

Indigenous women are a key target group for the department. The 2005
Indigenous Women's Report Card revealed that Indigenous women have
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lower labour force participation rates, levels of educational achievement and
household incomes. Indigenous women's health and safety also continues to
be of great concern.

The Indigenous Women's Congress
The Indigenous Women's Congress is an advisory committee that provides
policy advice to the Minister for Women's Interests on issues relevant to
Indigenous women in the state. The congress has representatives from all
regions in WA and is seen as a best practice model by other states and
territories for community consultation.

In 2007-2008 the congress,

in

conjunction with the Northern Territory,

assisted in the establishment of a national secretariat to support the National
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women's Gathering.

Women's Advisory Network of Western Australia
Women's Advisory Network of Western Australia (WANWA) is a consultative
group established by the Minister for Women's Interests in 2007 to provide

advice on policy that affects women. Members of WANWA reflect the
diversity of WA women and are leaders in the non-government sector.
WANWA provides a platform for Western Australian women to influence policy
development through women's groups and peak community organisations.

Gender Equity
The department encourages government agencies to analyse the impact of
legislation, policy and service delivery on women and men in order to achieve
a more equitable society.
In 2007-2008, the department:
o

o

Completed the Australian Research Council project on Gender
Analysis in Policy in collaboration with the University of Western
Australia (UWA), the University of Adelaide, the Office for Women in
South Australia and the Department of Health in Western Australia.
Facilitated consultations for the Australian Government's report to the
United Nations on the Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination
against Women.

Women's Grants Program
The department continued to strengthen women's organisations through the
allocation of $150,000 in grants to the non-government sector and
scholarships worth $60,000 to women in the community sector.
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Women's Information Service
The Women's Information Service provides a free telephone referral service
run by trained volunteers, an email distribution network, a calendar of events
and an outreach service. The telephone referral service receives almost 6,000
calls per year.
Specific initiatives included:
o

Implementation of an improved recruitment and training program for

volunteers.
o A survey of women on microcredit issues that will contribute to national
strategies to help women access financial services and advice.
o Updating and distributing the Women's Information Service pocket
directory of women's organisations.

International Women's Day

The 2007 International Women's Day theme "Women in Science and
Technology" was promoted by providing research, presentations and
resources to non-government organisations and by supporting events and
workshops with women's groups, employers, the science and technology
sector and female school students throughout the state.

These initiatives were conducted in partnership with the Department of
Industry and Resources and the Women in Science Group, chaired by
Professor Lyn Beazley, WA's Chief Scientist.

39

Department for Communities

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 2008

SERVICE 4: REDRESS WA

On 17 December 2007, the Premier and Minister for Communities announced
a $114 million scheme, known as Redress WA. The scheme aims to assist

adults who, as children, were abused and/or neglected in State care in
Western Australia. Key priorities of Redress WA include an apology and
acknowledgement to those who suffered when the state failed to provide a
proper level of care.

Redress WA is a scheme administered in accordance with the Redress WA
Administration Guidelines. These guidelines govern eligibility to the scheme,

the manner in which applications are assessed and offers of ex-gratia
payments. Successful applicants will be offered an ex-gratia payment of up to
$80,000, depending on the severity of the abuse or neglect suffered and injury

or harm they experienced. Applicants who accept an offer of ex-gratia
payment from Redress WA will be required to waive their right to take any
further action against the State Government with respect to the abuse or
neglect described in their application. Applicants who do not accept the exgratia payment retain their right to pursue legal action.

The scheme opened for applications on 1 May 2008 and closes on 30 April
2009. All applications will be assessed between 1 May 2009 and 30 June
2010. An initial assessment will be undertaken by a social worker, or person
with related qualifications or experience, to ascertain if an applicant is eligible
for the scheme and to assist the applicant in providing as much information as
possible to support his or her claim. A senior assessor with experience in
assessing loss and injury claims will assess each application to determine the
amount of ex-gratia payment to be offered, based on the severity of abuse or
neglect and the injury or harm suffered. Payments across all applications are

required to fit the capped allocated budget and senior assessors will be
required to assess applications against a scale, to ensure funds are allocated
fairly. Before offers of ex-gratia payments are made to applicants, each
application will be reviewed and endorsed by an external independent review
panel. Applicants are required to obtain independent legal advice, before
accepting an offer.

Within the scheme there is provision for interim payments to be made to
applicants who have been diagnosed with a terminal illness or who are over

70 and have a life-threatening illness. The payments can only be made
following a preliminary assessment. Applicants who receive an interim
payment will not be required to waive their right to take legal action against
the State Government. After an interim payment has been issued applications
from the terminally ill people will continue to be fully assessed, along with all
other applications.
Pursuant to the Treasurer's Instruction 319, the
department has established a register of all such payments.
Many potential applicants have not spoken to anyone about their experiences
while in State care and completing the application form to Redress WA has

been the first time they have disclosed past abuse.

A range of free,
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independent, support services are available to applicants of the scheme.
These include assistance to make an application, practical support and
access to counselling services. Applicants can also seek support from
existing mainstream services and Redress WA can assist with referrals to
these.

Between 1 May and 30 June 2008 a total of 10,000 application forms were
distributed and 175 applications were lodged with Redress WA.
Of the
applications:

o 32% were from females and 68% from males.
o 56% were from ex-wards, 30% from former child migrants, 9% from
those who were in State care but not a ward, and 5% were unsure of
their status.
o 27% were from Aboriginal people or Torres Strait Islanders and 73%
were non-Indigenous.
o 2% of the applicants were aged between 21 and 30 years old, 8% are
between 31 and 40, 13% between 41 and 50, 17% between 51 and 60,
40% between 61 and 70, 17% between 71 and 80, and 3% were over
80 years of age.

In 2008-2009 Redress WA will continue to assess all applications lodged
before the closing date of 30 April 2009 and prepare determinations once
applications have closed.

An external independent review panel will be convened to review all
determinations made by assessors and the panel will either endorse the
determination or remit it back to the assessors with recommendations. It is
envisaged that all offers of ex-gratia payments will be made between 1 May
2009 and 30 June 2010.
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SERVICE 5: PROMOTION AND SUPPORT OF MULTICULTURALISM IN WESTERN
AUSTRALIA

The Office of Multicultural Interests (OMI) assists in delivering the State
Government's commitments set out in the Western Australian Charter of
Multiculturalism by:
o
o

Promoting the ideals of multiculturalism to public sector agencies and
the community.

Developing and influencing policies that reflect the principles of
multiculturalism.

Strategic Directions
The strategic direction for multiculturalism was reinforced through the WA
Charter of Multiculturalism which became government policy in November
2004. Although multiculturalism as a concept that informs public policy is not
new, it continues to be contested. The purpose of the charter was to explicitly
recognise that the people of Western Australia are of different linguistic,
religious, racial and ethnic backgrounds, and to promote their participation in
democratic governance, within an inclusive society.

Harmony Week
Each year OMI coordinates Harmony Week, an annual state-wide community
relations initiative that promotes cultural diversity and encourages all Western
Australians to participate in society and take a stand against discrimination
and racism in all its forms.
OMI undertook and coordinated the following events and initiatives during
Harmony Week.
Vice Chancellor's Oration.
The inaugural Sir Ronald Wilson Leadership Award.
Harmony Week Small Grants Program.
Media and event promotions.
o OMI branding and production of Harmony Week promotional materials.
o
o
o
o

o A Harmony Week web site.

OMI provided assistance and additional funding support to the Australian
Asian Association in the Harmony International Folkfest. Harmony Week
2008 was launched at the Harmony International Folk Fest and approximately
2,300 people attended the event.

The thought-provoking nature of Harmony Week was reflected in the media,
with widespread coverage in mainstream and community newspapers and on
AM and FM radio. Perhaps the highest profile interview was between Angela
Davis and Phillip Adams on Radio National and Radio Australia's Late Night

Live, which attracts 500,000 listeners a night and eight million pod cast
downloads a month

the most downloaded program on Radio National.
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The inaugural Sir Ronald Wilson Leadership Award was presented as part of
a key initiative of Harmony Week 2008. The award recognises an outstanding

Western Australian who has shown exceptional leadership in the fields of
social justice, human rights, equality and/or anti-racism. The inaugural winner
was the Hon Fred Chaney AO. An independent awards selection panel was
appointed to review the 17 nominations. Presentation of the award was made
at the Vice Chancellor's Oration at Murdoch University on Tuesday 18 March
2008.

The Vice Chancellor's Oration, coincides with the United Nations Day for the
Elimination of Racial Discrimination and provides a fitting finale for Harmony
Week activities in Western Australia. Due to 21 March falling on Easter
Friday, the oration was held on 18 March 2008. The orator for 2008 was
Professor Angela Davis, an internationally-renowned activist, who provided an
outstanding oration.
A total of 700 people attended the 2008 Vice
Chancellors' Oration hosted by Murdoch University.

The Community Grants Program (CGP) offered grants of up to $5,000 to
support community projects or events during Harmony Week 2008. In 20072008, 16 organisations were successful in receiving $40,000 in funding.

Integrated Services Centre Pilot Project
The Integrated Services Centre (ISC) Pilot Project aims to address a range of
issues affecting service delivery for humanitarian entrants in Western
Australia. The ISC Pilot Project is a partnership with Department of Education
and Training (DET) and Department of Health (DoH). The Department of
Child Protection (DCP), the Department of Immigration and Citizenship (DIAC)
and Centre link are also represented on the project's steering committee.

The project focuses on issues relating to health (Including mental health),
education, training and employment, and family and community development.
Pilot programs were established at the Intensive English Centres at

Koondoola and Parkwood primary schools.

Three positions have been

funded at each of the pilot project sites: a nurse, a counsellor (mental health),
and a multicultural community liaison officer. In addition, DET is funding a
career development service position.
The pilot project complements existing and planned Commonwealth and State
government initiatives to assist humanitarian entrants. The target group for the
ISCs are adults, young people and children who are humanitarian entrants to
WA. They also need to be beyond the six-month eligibility period for access

to services provided as part of the Integrated Humanitarian Settlement
Strategy (IHSS).

The project takes into account the notion of "Schools as Hubs" articulated in
an October 2006 Federal Government paper. The project was originally
funded for 12 months. It has been given an additional 12 months funding to
run to 30 June 2009.
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Mental Health

Research and consultations have identified limited services and a lack of
choice in the provision of mental health services for people from culturally and

linguistically diverse backgrounds. While the Association for Services to
Torture and Trauma Survivors (ASeTTS) provides counselling to victims of
torture and trauma in new and emerging communities, the service is unable to

meet demand. In addition emerging communities are reluctant to access
mainstream health services.

To address this need, OMI has provided three-year funding to the Multicultural
Services Centre to deliver appropriate and effective mental health services to
people from CaLD backgrounds, particularly in new and emerging,
communities. The objectives of the program are to:
o

Provide access to quality, effective and equitable culturally sensitive
and specialist counselling.

o

Provide families and individuals with support and assistance to cope

o

with and improve their well-being.
Aid medical services and health professionals in understanding mental
health issues arising from the experiences of clients.

o

Reduce the effects of associated behavioural problems such as

o

marginalisation, social isolation, risk of involvement with the criminal
justice system and suicide prevention.
Monitor and identify opportunities from potential funding programs,
including the National Action Plan on Mental Health package, to further
resource CaLD mental health services.

National Action Plan and Inclusion and Integration Action Plan
A special meeting of the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) was held
in September 2005 to consider Australia's national counter-terrorism
COAG resolved to request the Ministerial Council on
arrangements.
Immigration and Multicultural Affairs (MCIMA) develop a National Action Plan
(NAP) to build on the statement of principles agreed at the Prime Minister's
2005 meeting with Islamic community leaders.

WA's contribution to NAP initiatives is the Inclusion and Integration Action
Plan (IIAP), developed to address issues of exclusion and marginalisation that

can lead to radicalisation.

The IIAP is multi-faceted and focuses on
underlying causes and tensions within new and emerging communities. In
November 2005, Cabinet endorsed $1m for the IIAP.
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CaLD Youth Sports Program (IIAP)
The CaLD Youth Sports Program aims to address the barriers currently faced
by some ethnic young people in accessing and engaging with sporting clubs
and mainstream sporting activities to increase participation. The department
is working in partnership with the Department of Sport and Recreation (DSR)

to progress a number of strategies. The Office for Youth, WA Sports
Federation, the Local Government Recreation and Technical Reference
Group and the Australian Asian Association are also represented on the
working group.
o

City of Stirling Project

The department and DSR in partnership with the City of Stirling have
funded a three-year pilot project.
The project is targeting young people from African backgrounds and other
groups with traditionally low rates of participation in organised sport and
recreation. The project aims to increase participation in sporting activities
within the City of Stirling. The City of Stirling was selected due to the
relatively large number of CaLD migrants, particularly humanitarian
entrants who have settled there since 2000. The project was officially

launched by the Minister for Multicultural Interests and Citizenship in
March 2007 at a community festival at the Herb Graham Recreation
Centre, Mirrabooka. It attracted approximately 1,000 people.

South East Corridor Project
This project is focused on increasing participation of CaLD children and
youth in sport and active recreation.
It also aims to improve the
understanding of service providers and increase the utilisation of existing
mainstream facilities and programs, in the south east corridor of the
o

metropolitan area.

Inclusion and Integration Grants Program (IIAP)
The IIGP provides grants to community-based and non-government
organisations to:
o Undertake programs designed to build community capacity.
o

Promote integration and active participation by all members of WA's
diverse community.

The grants round, held in the 2007-2008 financial year, resulted in five
organisations being awarded funds totalling $95,000. Successful applicants

were Community First, Bunbury Community and Child Care Association
(Milligan House), Learning Centre Link, Community Vision and the Edmund
Rice Centre (Mirrabooka).

Community Relations Integrations Officers (IIAP)
The Community Relations Integration Officer (CRIO) Grants Program was
developed in response to issues raised in consultations with new and
emerging communities and NG0s.
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The grants program provides funding to NGOs to employ a Community
Relations Integration Officer (CRIO). The grants program aims to:
o

Develop relationships and networks between new and emerging
communities and service providers to facilitate access to services and

o

programs.
Build the capacity of these communities to identify and find solutions to
their needs.

The successful applicants were Gosnells Women's Health Service, the
Gowrie, Mission Australia, the Coalition for Asylum Seekers, Refugees and
Detainees Inc., Ethnic Disability Advocacy Centre, Muslim Women's Support
Centre and Brockman House. The projects are due to be completed in 20082009.

Training Subsidies Project (IIAP)
This project, a partnership between the department and DET, aims to address
systemic and attitudinal barriers for people from CaLD backgrounds accessing
apprenticeships and traineeships.

Extra Edge Community Services (EECS) has been funded to develop, in
partnership with Group Training Organisations and NG0s, mechanisms to
increase

the

employment

of

people

from

CaLD

backgrounds

in

apprenticeships and traineeships. This includes raising awareness and
promoting apprenticeship and traineeship opportunities, promotion amongst
employers and developing a best practice model.

Intercultural Arts Program (IIAP)

This program aims to develop and implement policies and programs to
address barriers, and increase the level of participation of artists from CaLD
backgrounds. The program will also recommend strategies to build capacity
for these artists to advance within the arts in WA. A working group, including
Department of Culture and the Arts, Kulcha and the Community Arts Network
(WA), has been established to oversee the project.

Deakin University has been funded to undertake research that provides a
comprehensive review of intercultural arts within the WA arts sector including
arts practice, management, marketing and audience development with a view
to providing a practical way forward for intercultural arts in WA.

Western Australian Language Services Policy and Guidelines
The WA Language Services Policy (LSP) has been substantially revised and
now includes the introduction of minimum standards in the use of translators
and interpreters by government agencies. The revised LSP was approved by
Cabinet in June 2008. It includes greater recognition of issues relating to
Indigenous interpreting, and also addresses issues raised in a report prepared
by the Equal Opportunity Commission.
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The revised LSP is designed to ensure that government services are
responsive to the needs of clients and that the rights of Western Australians to
access services are not compromised by limited English language skills.

Grants and Sponsorship Program
A $250,000 Community Grants Program for not-for-profit community-based
organisations was administered during this reporting period The program was
established in October 2001 and aims to assist and encourage the
involvement of all Western Australians in projects and events that promote
positive interaction between all members of the community. In 2007-08, 197
grant applications were processed resulting in 83 grants and sponsorships
awarded for a wide range of activities.

47

Department for Communities

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 2008

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES AND TRENDS
This section summarises some of the department's current issues and
emerging trends:
o

The Department for Communities was established as recommended by
the Ford Review Report.

o A strategic framework for the department, which sets four directions for
the period 2008-2013, was developed. The mission of the department
reflects the emergence of social inclusion nationally as a framework to
guide social policy and program development. Social inclusion aims to
ensure the engagement of all community members, especially those
who experience economic disadvantage and social exclusion.
o

Non-government community services are experiencing significant
workforce recruitment and retention issues for both paid and volunteer
staff. This is largely due to full employment and competition with better
paid work in the resources and ancillary support sectors.

o

The Human Services Industry Roundtable, comprising government and
non-government representatives, is progressing a range of initiatives
supported by the department.

o

Child care remains an important issue for parents. High-quality early

childhood services provide an important support to parents and
developmental opportunities for children.
o

Parents' ability to parent is

enhanced through positive support

networks, ready access to information on child development and
parenting, and a positive community attitude to children and parents.
o

In June 2007, 16.7% of the population were aged 60 years or over. By
2041, nearly one in three Western Australians will be a senior. This
demographic change is impacting on a number of regional areas at a
faster rate than on the state as a whole.

o

Labour market shortages, return-to-work requirements, increased
mature age workforce retention, and increased family caring
commitments are all factors adversely impacting on volunteer
recruitment and retention.

o

Approximately 35% of the population is aged 25 years or under. The
issues and experiences of this group will impact on Western Australia's
future.
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o

More than 250,000 Western Australians provide unpaid care and
support to a family member or friend who has a disability, mental
illness, chronic condition or who is frail.

o

Interpersonal, family and domestic violence and other threats to safety
particularly in Indigenous communities, remain issues of public
concern.

o Women are recognised as providing an important contribution to
inclusive and diverse leadership and positive workplace cultures.

o Women in Western Australia increasingly undertake the bulk of child
care, care for people with disabilities and aged care so their economic
wellbeing and health are focal areas for the community.
o

The State Government announced 'Redress Western Australia' on 17
December 2007. The scheme is designed to address historical child
abuse claims for those who suffered abuse or neglect in State care,
both institutional and non-institutional.

o

High numbers of migrants, especially skilled migrants and humanitarian
entrants, continue to increase demand for state services.

o

Continuing community engagement and education about cultural
diversity and substantive equality is critical to maintaining an open and
inclusive society.
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE
INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION

Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION

To the Parliament of Western Australia
DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITIES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
1 have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators
of the Department for Communities.

The financial statements comprise the Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2008, and the Income
Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, Schedule of Income and
Expenses by Service, and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income
Estimates for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory Notes.
The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.

Director General's Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance
Indicators
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and

fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer's
Instructions, and the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing
and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements and key performance indicators that are free from material
misstatement. whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting

policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and
complying with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law.

Summary of my Role
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on
the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This
was done by testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence
I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further

information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. Refer
"http://www.audit.wa.gov.au/pubs/Audit-Practice-Statement.pdr

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements
and key performance indicators is error free. The term "reasonable assurance" recognises
that an audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit
procedures should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the
decisions of users of the financial statements and key performance indicators.
Page 1 of 2
re" Floor Dumas House 2 Havelock Street West Perth 6005 Western Australia Tel: 08 9222 7500 Fax: 08 9322 5654
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Independent Audit Opinion

Department for Communities
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2008

Audit Opinion
In my opinion,

(i) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the
financial position of the Department for Communities at 30 June 2008 and its
financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They are in

accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer's Instructions;
(ii) the controls exercised by the Depadment provide reasonable assurance that the
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of
property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative
provisions; and
(iii) the key performance indicators of the Department are relevant and appropriate to
help users assess the Department's performance and fairly represent the indicated
performance for the year ended 30 June 2008.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
12 September 2008
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2008

The accompanying financial statements of the Department for Communities
have been prepared in compliance with the Financial Management Act 2006
from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions
for the financial year ending 30 June 2008 and the financial position as at 30
June 2008.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would
render any particulars included in the financial statements misleading or
inaccurate.

t_,,.e-Susan Barrera
ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY

Alexander Watt CPA
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

5 September 2008

5 September 2008
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INCOME STATEMENT

for the year ended 30 June 2008
Note

2008

($'000)

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense

5

15,468

Supplies and services

6

4,027

Depreciation and amortisation expense

7

1,778

Operating expenses

8

4,630

Accommodation expenses

9

2,056

Grants and subsidies

10

7,283

Funding for services

11

4,833

Loss on disposal of non current assets

15

3

Other expenses

12

219

Total cost of services

40,297

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees

13

Commonwealth grants and contributions

14

708

Other revenue

16

1,093

66

Total revenue

1,867

Total income other than income from State Government

1,867

NET COST OF SERVICES

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Administered appropriation
Resources received free of charge

Total income from State Government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

38,430

17

36,699
422

2,222
39,343
913

See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Government Gazette, WA, No. 81, dated Friday, 20 April 2007 established and designated the Department for Child
Protection to replace the department formerly known as the 'Department for Community Development' and established and

designated the Department for Communities with effect on and from 1 May 2007. As directed by the Department of
Treasury and Finance, the Department for Child Protection was to continue to control the assets and liabilities of the two
departments until 1 July 2007. Owing to this significant restructure and in accordance with TI 949(5), there is no disclosure
of comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2007.
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BALANCE SHEET

as at 30 June 2008
Note

2008

($'000)

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

18

3,434

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

19

371

Receivables

20

Total Current Assets

513

4,318

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

19

170

Amounts receivable for services

21

6,000

Property, plant and equipment

22,26

15,385

Leasehold improvements

23,26

2,693

Restricted assets

24,26

16,357

Work in progress

25,26

96

Total Non-Current Assets

40,701

TOTAL ASSETS

45,019

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Payables

28

783

Accrued salaries

29

109

Provisions

30

2,425

Total Current Liabilities

3,317

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

30

Total Non-Current Liabilities

700

Total Liabilities
EQUITY

Contributed equity
Reserves

Accumulated surplus/(deficiency)

700

4,017
31

32,836
7,253
913

Total Equity

41,002

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

45,019

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Government Gazette, WA, No. 81, dated Friday, 20 April 2007 established and designated the Department for Child
Protection to replace the department formerly known as the 'Department for Community Development' and established and

designated the Department for Communities with effect on and from 1 May 2007. As directed by the Department of
Treasury and Finance, the Department for Child Protection was to continue to control the assets and liabilities of the two
departments until 1 July 2007. Owing to this significant restructure and in accordance with TI 949(5), there is no disclosure
of comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2007..
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June 2008
Note

2008

($'000)

Balance of equity at start of period

0

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

31

Balance at start of period

0

Transfer of capital contribution
from the Department for Child Protection

7,509

Capital contribution

200

Other contributions by owners

25,127

Balance at end of period

32,836

RESERVES

Asset Revaluation Reserve

31

Balance at start of period

0

Gains/(losses) from asset revaluation

7,253

Balance at end of period

7,253

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (RETAINED EARNINGS)

31

Balance at start of period

0

Surplus/(deficit) for the period

913

Balance at end of period

913

Balance of equity at end of period

Total income and expense for the period

41,002

(a)

8,166

(a) The aggregate net amount attributable to each category of equity is: surplus $913,000 plus gains from asset revaluation
$7,253,000.

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Government Gazette, WA, No. 81, dated Friday, 20 April 2007 established and designated the Department for Child
Protection to replace the department formerly known as the 'Department for Community Development' and established and
designated the Department for Communities with effect on and from 1 May 2007. As directed by the Department of Treasury
and Finance, the Department for Child Protection was to continue to control the assets and liabilities of the two departments
until

1

July 2007. Owing to this significant restructure and in accordance with TI 949(5), there is no disclosure of

comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2007.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 30 June 2008
Note

2008

($'000)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation

17

34,765

Administered appropriation

17

422

Capital contributions

31

200

Net cash provided by State Government

35,387

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits

(14,835)

Supplies and services

(3,862)

Operating expenses

(2,233)

Accommodation

(2,024)

Grants and subsidies

(7,205)

Funding for services

(4,811)

GST payments on purchases

(2,004)

Other payments

(205)

Receipts
User charges and fees

66

Commonwealth grants and contributions

709

99

GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority

1,593

Other receipts

1,036

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

32(b)

(33,676)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets

(340)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

(340)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

1,371

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period

27

Cash transferred in/(out)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD

2,577
32(a)

3,975

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

Government Gazette, WA, No. 81, dated Friday, 20 April 2007 established and designated the Department for Child
Protection to replace the department formerly known as the 'Department for Community Development' and established and

designated the Department for Communities with effect on and from 1 May 2007. As directed by the Department of
Treasury and Finance, the Department for Child Protection was to continue to control the assets and liabilities of the two
departments until 1 July 2007. Owing to this significant restructure and in accordance with TI 949(5), there is no disclosure
of comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2007.
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SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE

for the year ended 30 June 2008
Community
and Family
Support

2008
($'000)

COSTS OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Operating expenses
Accommodation expenses
Grants and subsidies
Funding for services
Loss on disposal on non-current assets
Other expenses

Strategic Policy
and Coordination

Child Care
Services

Redress
Scheme for
Children and
Young People
Abused in the
Care of the State

2008
($'000)

2008
($'000)

2008
($'000)

3,852
733
977
1,125
513
388
1,760

3,925
948
676
1,047
542

5,380
1,798
110
1,957
547

132

644

1

1

1

47
9,396

53
7,968

51

17,344

405
137

78
335

66
225
195

542
8,854

413
7,555

Total income from State Government

7,950
100
544
8,594

Surplus/deficit for the period

(260)

Total cost of services
Income
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other revenue

Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Administered appropriation
Resources received free of charge

Promotion and
Support of
Multiculturalism

TOTAL

2008
($'000)

308
148

2008
($'000)

2,003
400
15

428

5,091

73
53
32

1,640

2,409

19

1

401

15,468
4,027
1,778
4,630
2,056
7,283
4,833
3

68
4,956

219
40,297

200

226

66
708
1,093

486
16,858

200
433

226
4,730

1,867
38,430

6,785
85
597
7,467

15,141
185
854
16,180

2,576

2,576

4,246
53
227
4,526

36,699
422
2,222
39,343

(88)

(678)

2,143

(204)

913

633

The Schedule for Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Government Gazette, WA, No. 81, dated Friday, 20 April 2007 established and designated the Department for Child Protection to replace the department formerly known as the 'Department for Community
Development' and established and designated the Department for Communities with effect on and from 1 May 2007. As directed by the Department of Treasury and Finance, the Department for Child Protection was to
continue to control the assets and liabilities of the two departments until 1 July 2007. Owing to this significant restructure and in accordance with TI949(5), there is no disclosure of comparatives for the year ended 30
June 2007.
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES

for the year ended 30 June 2008

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 116 Net amount appropriated to deliver services

2008

2008

Estimate
($'000)

Actual

30,065

Item 117 Contribution to the Western Australian
Family Foundation Trust Account
Section 25 transfer of service appropriation
Amount authorised by other statutes
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

Variance

($'000)

($'000)

32,215

2,150

4,315

4,315

169

169

30,065

36,699

6,634

30,065

36,699

6,634

Community and Family Support

8,398
7,493

9,396
7,968
17,344

998

Child Care Services
Strategic Policy and Coordination
Redress Scheme for Children and Young people Abused in the Care of
the State
Promotion and Support of Multiculturalism

(1,048)

633

633

Total appropriations provided to deliver services
CAPITAL
Item 181 Capital Contribution

Grand Total

Details Of Expenses by Service

18,392

475

3,704

4,956

1,252

Total cost of services
Less total income

37,987
(621)

40,297
(1,867)

2,310
1,246

Net cost of services

Adjustments

37,366
(7,301)

38,430
(1,731)

5,570

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

30,065

36,699

6,634

1,064

Capital expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Adjustments for other funding sources

140

140

(140)

(140)

Capital Contribution (appropriation)
Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and
superannuation.

The 2008 Estimate for Details of Expenses by Service has been adjusted for comparative purposes to reflect further transfer of
services from the Department for Child Protection in 2007-08.
The Section 25 transfer of Service Appropriation from the Department for Child Protection in 2007-08 ($4.315 million) included
item 117 Contribution to the Western Australian Family Foundation Trust Account for $560,000.

The 'Purchase of non-current physical assets' has been adjusted to only include purchases made from controlled
appropriation.

Note 36 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2008.
Government Gazette, WA, No. 81, dated Friday, 20 April 2007 established and designated the Department for Child Protection
to replace the department formerly known as the 'Department for Community Development' and established and designated
the Department for Communities with effect on and from 1 May 2007. As directed by the Department of Treasury and Finance,
the Department for Child Protection was to continue to control the assets and liabilities of the two departments until 1 July
2007. Owing to this significant restructure and in accordance with TI 949(5), there is no disclosure of comparatives for the year
ended 30 June 2007.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2008
Departmental mission and funding

1

The Department for Communities' purpose is to provide a focal point for policy development, program delivery and community
engagement within an over-arching social inclusion framework.
The Department is primarily funded by Parliamentary appropriations. The financial statements encompass all funds through which
the Department controls resources to carry on its functions.

Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

2

General
The Department's financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2008 have been prepared in accordance with Australian
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), which comprise a Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (the Framework) and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations).
In preparing these financial statements the Department has adopted, where relevant to its operations, new and revised Standards
and Interpretations from their operative dates as issued by the AASB and formerly the Urgent Issues Group (UIG).

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation unless specifically
permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. No Standards and
Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are not yet effective have been early adopted by the Department for the
annual reporting period ending 30 June 2008.

Summary of significant accounting policies

3
a

General Statement

The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statement of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements
of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer's Instructions. Several of these are modified by the
Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer's Instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of
financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
b

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standard AAS 29 'Financial Reporting by
Government Departments' on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation
of land, buildings, and leasehold improvements which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all
periods presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000).
c

Contributed Equity
UIG Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities' requires transfers in the
nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or
prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) have
been designated as contributions by owners by (TI) 955 Contributions by Owners to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities' and
have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are nondiscretionary and non-reciprocal. See note 31 'Equity'.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008
d

Income

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business
activities as follows:
Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership control transfer to purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Service Appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Department gains control of the appropriated
funds. The Department gains control of the appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited into the Department's
bank account or credited to the holding account held at Treasury.
See note 17 'Income from State Government' for further detail.

Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control of
the Department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2007-2008 Budget Statements, the Department
retained $1.867 million in 2008 from the following:
proceeds from fees and charges;
Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; and
other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions which
is usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.
Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that they be expended
in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the balance sheet date,
the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged conditions are disclosed in the notes.

Gains
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of
non-current assets and revaluations of non-current assets.
e

Property, Plant and Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Capitalisation/Expensing of Assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvements costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the
cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold
improvements costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Income Statement (other than where they
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvements acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
After recognition as an asset, the Department uses the revaluation model for the measurement of land, buildings and
leasehold improvements and the cost model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings and leasehold
improvements are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and leasehold improvements and
accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Where market evidence is available, the fair value of land, buildings and leasehold improvements is determined on the basis of

current market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings and leasehold
improvements are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.
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Where market evidence is not available, the fair value of land, buildings and leasehold improvements is determined on the
basis of existing use. This normally applies where buildings and leasehold improvements are specialised or where land use is
restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings and leasehold
improvements is dependent on using the depreciated replacement cost, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Valuation Services) and recognised with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount does not differ materially from the
asset's fair value at the balance sheet date.

Fair value of leasehold improvements has been determined by reference to the depreciated replacement cost (existing use
basis) as the assets are specialised and no-market based evidence of value is available. Independent valuations are obtained
every 3 to 5 years.
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to
assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not
provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner
that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are
reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Buildings
Office machines, furniture and equipment
Computer equipment

25 years
5 years
4 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight line basis over the life of the lease or the life of the asset, whichever is
less.

Impairment of Assets
Property, plant and equipment, leasehold improvements and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at
each balance sheet date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment
loss is recognised. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset is identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially understated, where the

replacement cost is falling or where there is significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset's
future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at each
balance sheet date irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.
See note 27 'Impairment of assets' for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
g

Leases

The Department holds operating leases for motor vehicles, head office and a number of branch office buildings. Lease
payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the
leased properties.

The Department's commitment in respect of operating leases is disclosed in note 32 'Lease commitments'. The Department
has no finance lease commitments at this time.
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h

Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instrument:
Receivables; and
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
These have been disaggregated into the following classes:
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Accrued salaries

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or
the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
i

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes restricted cash and cash equivalents. These

are comprised of cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Accrued Salaries
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 19 'Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents') consists of amounts paid
annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each
eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

Accrued salaries (refer note 29 'Accrued Salaries') represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial
year, as the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued
salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued
salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.
k

Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)
The Department receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of
services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable) that is accessible on
the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items such as leave entitlements and asset replacement.
See also note 17 'Income from State Government' and note 21 'Amounts receivable for services'.

I

Receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e.
impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible
are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is
objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it
is due for settlement within 30 days.
See note 3(h) 'Financial Instruments' and note 20 "Receivables'
m

Payables
Payables are recognised when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets
or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.
See note 28 'Payables'.

n

Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal, equitable or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date.
See note 30 'Provisions'.
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(I)

Provisions - Employee Benefits
Annual Leave and Long Service Leave
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date

is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Annual and long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the balance sheet date is
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are
in respect of services provided by employees up to the balance sheet date.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the long service
leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures and periods of service.

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date on national
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the
Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

Deferred Leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to selffund an additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of
salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual
leave. Deferred leave is reported as a non-current provision until the fifth year.

Purchased Leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to
self-fund an additional four weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside
for employees and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. This
liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers the following superannuation schemes.

Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new
members or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to
new members. The Department has no liabilities for superannuation charges under the Pension or the GSS
Schemes as the liability has been assumed by the Treasurer.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension or the
GSS Schemes became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees
commencing on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these
schemes are accumulation schemes. The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of
employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government's Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act
1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS
Schemes.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by the
Treasurer for the employer's share.
See also note 3(o) 'Superannuation Expense'.

(ii)

Provisions - Other
Employment On-Costs
Employment on-costs, including workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment oncosts are included as part of 'Other expenses' and are not included as part of the Department's 'Employee benefits
expense'. The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'.
See note 12 'Other Expenses' and note 30 'Provisions'.
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Superannuation Expense
The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the Income Statement:
(a)

Defined benefit plans Change in the unfunded employers liability (i.e. current service cost and, actuarial gains
and losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of current employees who are members of the Pension Scheme
and current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the Gold State Superannuation
Scheme (GSS); and

(b)

Defined contribution plans Employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State
Superannuation Scheme (WSS), and the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).

Defined benefit plans in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements (i.e. current service cost and, actuarial gains
and losses) in the liabilities in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS transfer benefits are recognised as expenses in

the Income Statement. As these liabilities are assumed by the Treasurer (refer note 3(n)(i)), a revenue titled 'Liabilities
assumed by the Treasurer' equivalent to the expense is recognised under Income from State Government in the Income
Statement.

See note 17 'Income from State Government'.

The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this does not constitute part of the cost of
services provided in the current year.
Defined contribution plans in order to reflect the Department's true cost of services, the Department is funded for the
equivalent of employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme (excluding transfer benefits). These contributions were
paid to the GESB during the year and placed in a trust account administered by the GESB on behalf of the Treasurer. The
GESB subsequently paid these employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme to the Consolidated Account.
The GSS scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However,
apart from the transfer benefit, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions
(defined contributions) made by the agency to GESB extinguishes the agency's obligations to the related superannuation
liability.
p

Resources Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Cost
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as income and as assets
or expenses as appropriate, at fair value.

q

Comparative Figures
Government Gazette, WA, No. 81, dated Friday, 20 April 2007 established and designated the Department for Child Protection
to replace the department formerly known as the 'Department for Community Development' and established and designated
the Department for Communities with effect on and from 1 May 2007. As directed by the Department of Treasury and Finance,
the Department for Communities was to continue to control the assets and liabilities of the two departments until 1 July 2007.

Owing to this significant restructure and in accordance with TI 949(5), there is no disclosure of comparatives for the year
ended 30 June 2007.
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Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

4

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007 that impacted on the Department.
1.

AASB 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10 'Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB
4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]').
This Standard requires new disclosures in relation to financial instruments and while there is no financial impact, the
changes have resulted in increased disclosures, both quantitative and qualitative, of the Department's exposure to risks,
including enhanced disclosure regarding components of the Department's financial position and performance, and
changes to the way of presenting certain items in the notes to the financial statements.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation unless specifically
permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. Consequently, the Department
has not applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations that have been issued
and which may impact the Department but are not yet effective. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Standards
and Interpretations from their application date:

Title

AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial Statements' (September 2007). This Standard has
been revised and will change the structure of the financial statements. These changes

Operating for reporting periods
beginning on/after
1 January 2009

will require that owner changes in equity are presented separately from non-owner
changes in equity. The Department does not expect any financial impact when the
Standard is first applied.
Review of AAS 27 'Financial Reporting by Local Governments', 29 'Financial Reporting
by Government Departments' and 31 'Financial Reporting by Governments'. The AASB
has made the following pronouncements from its short term review of AAS 27, AAS 29
and AAS 31:
AASB 1004 'Contributions' (December 2007).
AASB 1050 'Administered Items' (December 2007).
AASB 1051 'Land Under Roads' (December 2007).
AASB 1052 'Disaggregated Disclosures' (December 2007).
AASB 2007-9 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the review
of AASB 27, 29 and 31 [AASB 3, AASB 5, AASB 8, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 116,
AASB 127 & AASB 137] (December 2007).

Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector

1 July 2008
1 July 2008
1 July 2008
1 July 2008
1 July 2008

1 July 2008

Entities (December 2007).

The existing requirements in AAS27, AAS 29 and AAS 31 have been transferred to the
above new and existing topic-based Standards and Interpretation. These requirements

remain substantively unchanged. The new and revised Standards make some
modifications to disclosures, otherwise there will be no financial impact.
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5

Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a)

Superannuation

12,528

defined contribution plans (b)

1,213

Long service leave (e)

445
1,120

Annual leave (e)

Other related expenses

162

15,468

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employees plus the fringe benefits tax component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and the GESB Super Scheme (contributions
paid).

(c) Includes a superannuation component.

Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 12 'Other expenses'.
The employment on-costs liability is included at note 30 'Provisions'.

6

Supplies and services
Communications

517

Consultants and contractors

2,934

Leased equipment

27

Motor vehicle costs

469

Facilities

80

4,027

7

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Buildings

246

Office machines, furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

4

756

Restricted assets

buildings

156

Restricted assets

leasehold improvements

586

Total depreciation

8

30

1,778

Operating expenses
Consumables

1,671

Staffing costs

148

Training

208

Travel

299

Other

2,304
4,630
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9

Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals

1,080

Repairs and maintenance

buildings

general

Insurance

241

89

Minor works

453

Cleaning, gardening, security, rates and taxes

100

Power, water and gas

93

2,056

10

Grants and subsidies
Grants and subsidies

private bodies

2,890

Youth/Cadets grants

2,227

Community service grants

1,258

Instructor Recognition Grants

683

Charitable Bodies

111

Capital construction grants

113

7,283

11

Funding non-government bodies
Funding to non-government agencies under contract for services provided directly to the community including
to organisations such as Anglicare, Centrecare and local government shires.

12

4,833

Other expenses
Repairs and maintenance

equipment

54

Employment on-costs (a) (see note 5 'Employee benefits expense')

120

Audit fees (b)

45

219
(a)

Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability
associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 30
'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee
benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

(b)

13

Audit fee, see also note 35 'Remuneration of auditor'.

User charges and fees
Sale of products

66

67

Department for Communities

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 2008

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008
2008

($'000)
14

Commonwealth grants and contributions
Recurrent
Children's Services Program

77

Early Childhood Education Funding Agreement

405

FDV East Kimberley Outreach Hub

204

National Youth Week

22
708

15

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Proceeds from
disposal

Computer Equipment

16

Carrying Cost of
assets

Net Gain / (Loss)
on disposal

2008

2008

2008

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

0

3

(3)

0

3

(3)

Other revenue
Contributions by officers to the Executive Motor Vehicle Scheme

20

Rebates and reimbursements

4

Sponsorship revenue

130

Miscellaneous

939
1,093

Miscellaneous revenue ($939,000) includes funds for Child Care Regulations, Redress Scheme and
Celebrate WA.
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17

Income from State Government
Appropriations received during the year:
34,765

Cash received from government (a)
Amount receivable for services (a)

1,934

36,699

Administered appropriations

422
37,121

Resources received free of charge (b)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
State Solicitor's Office

legal services

land information & valuation services

Landgate

Department of Housing and Works
Department for Child Protection

leasing services

corporate support

22
6
3

2,191

2,222
39,343
(a)

Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of services delivered. The
appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable
(holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in
leave liability during the year.

(b)

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the Department

recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those
services that can be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated, and
those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable. The exception occurs
where the contribution of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by owners, in which
case the Department makes the adjustment direct to equity.
18

Cash and cash equivalents
Operating bank account at Commonwealth Bank
Cash advances

3,425
9

3,434

19

Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current (a)

WA Family Foundation

371

Non-Current
Accrued salaries suspense account (b)

170

(a) Cash held in the controlled trust accounts can only be used for specific designated purposes.

(b) Amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a
financial year that occurs every 11 years.
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($'000)
20

Receivables

Current

Provision for
Gross

Doubtful Debts

Net

2008

2008

2008

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

Receivables

Salary Overpayments

3

0

3

Other

150

0

150

GST Recoverable

311

0

311

464

0

464

Prepayments

Operating costs

49
49

Total current

513

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of year

0

Transfer from the Department for Child Protection

18

Amounts written off during the year

(18)

Balance at end of year

0

Credit risk

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired based on the information provided to senior management, at
the balance sheet date:
Not more than 3 months

33

More than 3 months but less than 6 months

19

More than 6 months but less than 1 year

19

More than 1 year

0
71

Receivables individually determined as impaired at the balance sheet date:
Carrying amount, before deducting any impairment loss

0

Impairment loss

0
0

See also note 3(1) 'Receivables' and note 37 'Financial instruments'.
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($'000)

21

Amounts receivable for services
Non-current

6,000

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. See note 3(k) 'Amounts receivable for
services (Holding Account)'. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of
leave liability.

22

Property, plant and equipment

Cost or
Valuation

Accumulated
Depreciation

Written Down
Value

2008
($'000)

2008
($'000)

2008
($'000)

At cost:
Office machines, furniture and equipment

114

31

83

10

3

7

124

34

90

9,038

0

9,038

Computer equipment

At fair value:
Land (a)

Buildings (a)

(a)

6,258

1

6,257

15,296

1

15,295

15,420

35

15,385

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2007 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation
Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2008 and recognised at 30 June 2008. In
undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $3,521,000; current use for
land: $5,517,300; market values for buildings: $1,655,000 and current use for buildings: $4,268,800. For the remaining
balance, fair value of land and buildings was determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost.
See note 3(e) 'Property, Plant and Equipment and Leasehold Improvements'.

Valuation Services, the Officer of the Auditor General and the Department of Treasury and Finance assessed the
valuations globally to ensure that the valuations provided (as at 1 July 2007) were compliant with fair value at 30 June
2008.
23

Leasehold improvements

Cost or
Valuation

Accumulated
Depreciation

Written Down
Value

2008
($'000)

2008
($'000)

2008
($'000)

At fair value:
Leasehold improvements (a)

2,994

301

2,693

(a) Leasehold improvements were revalued as at 1 July 2007 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation

Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2008 and recognised at 30 June 2008. In
undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to current use for leasehold improvements:
$1,873,864. For the remaining balance, fair value of leasehold improvements was determined by reference to depreciated
replacement cost. See note 3(e) 'Property, Plant and Equipment and Leasehold Improvements'.
Valuation Services, the Office of the Auditor General and the Department of Treasury and Finance assessed the valuations
globally to ensure that the valuations provided (as at 1 July 2007) were compliant with fair value at 30 June 2008.
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Restricted assets
These assets are restricted due to limitations being placed on the purpose and functions for which the assets can be used, in
either lease documents, land vested in the Minister's name or agreements made with the Commonwealth.

Cost or
Valuation

Accumulated
Depreciation

Written Down
Value

2008

2008

2008

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

At fair value:
Land (a)

8,467

0

8,467

Buildings (a)

4,576

0

4,576

3,381

67

3,314

16,424

67

16,357

Leasehold improvements (a)

(a) Restricted land, buildings and leasehold improvements were revalued as at 1 July 2007 by the Western Australian Land
Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2008 and
recognised at 30 June 2008. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for
land: $6,130,000; current use for land: $2,265,100; market values for buildings: $2,580,000; current use for buildings:
$1,996,300 and current use for leasehold improvements: $3,314,208. For the remaining balance, fair value for land and
buildings was determined by reference to depreciated replacement costs. See note 3(e) 'Property, Plant and Equipment
and Leasehold Improvements.'
Valuation Services, the Office of the Auditor General and the Department of Treasury and Finance assessed the valuations
globally to ensure that the valuations provided (as at 1 July 2007) were compliant with fair value at 30 June 2008.

25

Work in progress
Work in progress has been included at cost:
Office accommodation

26

96

Reconciliation schedule of non-current assets
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, leasehold improvements, restricted assets and works in
progress at the beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below.

Office
machines,

Buildings

Land

furniture
and

equipment
2008

Carrying amount
at start of year

(8'000)

(8'000)

0

(8'000)

0

0

Computer
equipment
and
software

Leasehold
improvements

(8'000)

(8'000)

0

0

Restricted

Restricted

assets land

asset s buildings

(8'000)

(8'000)

0

Restricted

assets leasehold
improvements
(8'000)

0

0

Work in
progress

Total

(8'000)

(8'000)

0

0

Additions

1,050

306

12

0

0

0

0

326

1,695

Transfers in (')

5,953

6,418

101

14

2,728

7,010

3,933

2,862

0

29,019

0

(374)

0

0

0

0

0

0

(230)

(604)

0

0

0

(3)

0

(1,050)

0

0

0

(1,053)

2,035

153

0

0

721

2,507

799

1,038

0

7,253

(30)

(4)

(756)

0

(156)

(586)

0

(1,778)

83

7

2,693

8,467

4,576

3,314

96

34,531

Transfers Out (b)
Disposals
Revaluation
increments
Depreciation
and amortisation

0

Carrying amount
at end of year

9,038

(246)

6,257

(a) $29,004,000 represents the transfer of assets from the Department for Child Protection; and $15,000 represents the transfer of office
equipment from the Department of the Premier and Cabinet.
(b) $374,000 represents buildings transferred to the Department for Child Protection; and $230,000 represents transfers of expenditure out
of work in progress to non-current assets or relevant expenditure accounts.
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Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment of property, plant and equipment, leasehold improvements and intangible assets at 30
June 2008

2008

($'000)

28

Payables
Payables and accrued expenses
Liability for goods and services

Liability for employee funded leave entitlements

778
5

783

See also note 3(n) 'Payables' and note 38 'Financial instruments'.

29

Accrued Salaries
Amounts owing for two working days from 27 June to 30 June 2008

109

2008

($'000)
30

Provisions

Current

Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a)

Leave loading
Long service leave (b)

Free passes to the coast and travel days
Time off in lieu

884
122

1,357
5

35

2,403

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (e)

22
22

2,425

Non-current

Employee benefits provision
Long Service Leave (b)

689

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c)

11
1

700

3,125
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(a)

Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date.

(b)

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date.
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of balance sheet date

403

More than 12 months after balance sheet date

1,643

2,046

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment

(c)

on-costs including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of
expected future payments. The associated expense is disclosed in note 12 'Other Expenses'.

Movements in Other Provisions

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out
below.
Employee on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of year

0

Additional provisions recognised

33

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits

0

Carrying amount at end of year

31

33

Equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The Government holds the equity
interest in the Department on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion
of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.
Contributed equity
Balance at the start of the year

0

Contributions by owners
Capital contribution (a)

Transfer of capital contribution from the Department for Child Protection

200

7,509

Transfer of net assets from other agencies (b)

Transfer of net assets from the Department for Child Protection

13,321

Transfer of asset revaluation reserve from the Department for Child Protection

11,490

Transfer of net assets from the Department of the Premier and Cabinet

316

Total contributions by owners

32,836

Balance at the end of the year

32,836
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Capital Contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets

(a)

from other State government agencies have been designated as contributions by owners in
Treasurer's Instruction TI 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly owned Public Sector
Entities' and are credited directly to equity.

UIG Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities'

(b)

requires that where the transferee accounts for a transfer as a contribution by owner, the
transferor must account for the transfer as a distribution to owners. Consequently, nondiscretionary (non-reciprocal) transfer of net assets to other State government agencies are
distribution to owners and are debited directly to equity.
Reserves

Asset revaluation reserve
Balance at the start of the year

0

Net revaluation increments / (decrements)
2,035

Land

Buildings

153

Leasehold improvements

721

Restricted assets

land

Restricted assets

buildings

Restricted assets

leasehold improvements

Balance at the end of the year

2,507
799

1,038
7,253

Accumulated surplus / (deficit)
Balance at the start of the year

0

Result for the period

913

Balance at the end of the year

913

Total equity

41,002
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32

Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
(a)
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related
items in the Balance Sheet as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 18)

3,434

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see note 19)

541

3,975

(b)

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by / (used in) operating activities
Net cost of services

38,430

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Resources received free of charge
Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment

1,778
2,222
3

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current receivables
Current prepayments
Current assets transferred to other sources (a)

(153)
(49)
50

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables
Current provisions
Current accrued salaries
Current liabilities transferred to other sources (a)
Non-current provisions
Other non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities transferred to other sources (a)
Change in GST in receivables/payables

755
2,425
109

(2,231)
700
90
(634)
(311)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

(33,676)

(a) Assets and liabilities transferred to the Department for Child Protection.
33

Lease Commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for as at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the
financial statements are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

1,496
1,490

Later than 5 years

0

2,986

Representing:
Cancellable operating leases

848

Non-cancellable operating leases

2,138
2,986

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year

648

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years

1,490

Later than 5 years

0

2,138

The Department leases its motor vehicle fleet and certain office premises. The lease expenditure is
expensed as it is incurred. Motor vehicle leasing arrangements are under the terms of the State Fleet
Funding Facility Contract administered by State Fleet

State Supply Commission.
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34

Remuneration of senior officers
Remuneration

The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and
other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:
2008

$
0

10,000

3

10,001

20,000

3

20,001

30,000

0

30,001

40,000

1

40,001

50,000

1

60,001

70,000

1

70,001

80,000

1

80,001

90,000

2
1

90,001

100,000

130,001

140,000

1

140,001

150,000

1

200,001

210,000

1

The total remuneration of senior officers is:

1,012

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior
officers. Senior officers are defined as those officers who have sat on the corporate executive for all or part of
the financial year. The list is larger than would have ordinarily been the case due to acting arrangements that
needed to be put in place whilst appointments were being made to the relevant executive positions.
No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

35

Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators

45
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Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the
financial statements titled 'Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates' are
shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% and $1 million.
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2008

Total appropriation to deliver services

An increase in total appropriation of $2.3 million is predominately due to the additional funding received for
the introduction of the Redress WA Scheme. Additional funding was also received for the new Community
Concessions and Rebate Campaign initiative as well as funding for the continuation of Integrated Service
Centres at Parkwood and Koondoola Primary Schools.

During the 2007-08 year further services were transferred from the Department for Child Protection to the
Department for Communities. The services which were transferred were the Parenting Program Support,
Parent Help Centre and the Best Start and Parent Link Programs. In addition, the Western Australian Family
Foundation Trust Account was also transferred to the Department.

Significant variance in service expenditures is as follows:

Promotion and Support of Multiculturalism

2008

2008

Actual
($'000)

Estimate
($'000)

4,956

3,704

Variance
(r000)

1,252

The increase in expenditure for the Promotion and Support of
Multiculturalism is due partly to the mid-year transfer of Celebrate WA
and the inclusion of the Commonwealth funded Men's Well Being
Program. The creation of the Department for Communities has also
resulted in an increase in expenditure for this service through the
allocation of Departmental overhead that was not included in the
2007-08 estimate.

Total Income
The

increase

in

income

is

primarily

due

to

the

receipt

2008

2008

Actual
($'000)

Estimate
($'000)

1,867

621

Variance
($'000)
1,246

of

Commonwealth revenue for the Best Start Program to promote Early

Childhood Education and to improve and co-ordinate family and
domestic violence services in the East Kimberley. Once-off cash
payments were also received from the Department for Child Protection

and the Department of the Premier and Cabinet for the transfer of
services between the departments.
37

Financial Instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Obiectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables. All of
the Department's cash is held in the public bank account (non-interest bearing). The Department has limited
exposure to financial risks. The Department's overall risk management program focuses on managing the
risks identified below.

Credit Risk
All financial assets are unsecured. Amounts owing by other government agencies are guaranteed and
therefore no credit risk exists in respect to those amounts. In respect of other financial assets the carrying
amounts represent the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department's exposure to bad
debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity Risk
The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. Liquidity risk
arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Department has
appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast
cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
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Market Risk
The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The
Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are
non-interest bearing, and have no borrowings other than the Treasurer's advance (non-interest bearing).

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial
liabilities at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (a)

3,434
541

6,153

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

892

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures
Credit Risk, Liquidity Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposures

The following table details the Department's exposure to liquidity risk as at the balance sheet date. The
Department's maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is the carrying amount of financial
assets as shown on the following table. The table is based on information provided to senior management of
the Department.

The Department does not hold collateral as a security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial
assets it holds.
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Financial Instruments (cont'd)

The Department does not hold any financial assets that has to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise
resulted in them being past due or impaired.

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest

Variable
Interest

Contractual Maturity Dates
Non-

Total

Rate

Interest
Bearing

Within

1-2

2-3

3-4

4-5

1 Year

Years

Years

Years

Years

than
5 years

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

($'000)

Rate

30 June 2008

Financial Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Restricted cash and
cash equivalents
Receivables

More

($'000)

3,434
6.91%

541

153

(a)

Amounts receivable
for services

6,000
10,128

Financial Liabilities
Payables

783

Accrued Salaries

109

892

9,236

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

2008
38

Other commitments
Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial
statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year

1,208

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

0

Later than 5 years

0

1,208

The capital commitments include amounts for:
Office accommodation and relocation

478

System Upgrade

730

1,208

Expenditure

consumables

560

Total

1,768
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39

Contingent liabilities
The Department's policy is to disclose as a contingency any obligations which may arise due to special
circumstances or events. At the date of this report the Department is not aware of any material future
obligations, except for the following:
Commonwealth contributions made for child care centres which the Department is required to repay if the
centres cease to function for the purpose for which they were built amount to:

40

Write offs
During the financial year $18,000 was written off under the authority of:
The Accountable Officer:
Other

41

443

18

Special Purpose Accounts
Special Purpose Accounts section 16(1)(c) of Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)

Western Australian Family Foundation

The purpose of the special purpose account is to hold funds for development, implementation and.
administration of initiatives and activities regarding the family and the community.

Balance at the start of the year

Transfer from the Department for Child Protection
Receipts
Payments

Balance at the end of the year

0
141

560

(330)
371

(a) During the financial year, Special Purpose Account No. 12 Western Australian Family Foundation was
transferred from the Department for Child Protection, consistent with the Ford Report's recommendations.
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Special Purpose Accounts created, amended or closed during the year
During the financial year, Special Purpose Account No. 12 Western Australian Family Foundation was
transferred from the Department for Child Protection, consistent with the Ford Report's recommendations.

DEPARTMENT FOR COMMUNITIES
SPECIAL PURPOSE STATEMENT NO. 12
An Account called the Western Australian Family Foundation

NAME

shall be maintained as a special purpose account under section 16
(1Xd.) of the Financial Management Act x006 by the Department
for Communities.
To hold funds fat the purpose of development, implementation
and administration of initiatives and activities regarding-the family
and the community.
Such moneys'as are received by the Department for Communities
being appropriated by Parliament shall be pla&d to the credit of
the Account
The funds in the. Account shall be applied in the development,

PURPOSE
RECEIPT S

PAYMENT S

implementation and administration of initiatives regarding the
family and community.

The Account ghat' he administered by the Director General

ADMINISTRATION
OF ACCOUNT
ACCOUNT /NC3- RECORDS

Department for Communities in full accordance with the Financial
Management At 2006, Financial Management Regulations 2007
and Treasurer's Instructions_
There shall be maintained a detailed record of CT itlISIWUOILY
processed through the Account, together with such other
accounting records and procedures as prescribed in the
papartment's Best Practice Manual

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

'There

shall bo prepared financial statements, together with

supplementary information in accordance with tho provisions of

the Financial Management At 2006, Financial Management
Regulations and Treasurer's Instructions

Any balance standing to the credit of the Account upon cessation

DISPOSAL OF FUNDS ON
CESSAIION-

of the operations shall be reallocated to other family and
community initiatives and activities at the direction of the
Minister fot CommunitiLS

I have examined and agree to the
provisions of this Special Purpose Statement

OR

DATE:

7
4_0/0 7

Approved_

DEPARTrAPNT OF TREASURY AND FINANCE

/44- /i2-

e9 7
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department for Communities' performance, and
fairly represent the performance of the Department for Communities for the financial year
ended 30 June 2008.

Susan Barrera
Accountable Authority
5 September 2008

INDICATORS OF EFFECTIVENESS

The department's effectiveness indicators are drawn from three main sources: an annual
customer perception survey; indicators derived from the department's administrative
databases; and surveys of external stakeholders involved in projects undertaken by the
department.
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OUTCOME 1

Communities are strengthened so that individuals and families are able to better meet
their needs.
Percentage of customers who report they were satisfied with the service

1.1

The department promotes children's early learning and development through a range of services designed to
support parents and children. This indicator encompasses the following services delivered to support parents
and children:
Best Start
Parent Link Home Visiting Services
Parenting Services
Occasional Care and
Vacation Care.
Customers of these services were surveyed as to whether or not they were satisfied with the service provided
and whether or not it met their needs.

Table 6
Percentage of customers who report they were satisfied with the service
2007-08

Result
!Customer satisfaction with services

97%1

Target
95%!

Customer Satisfaction with Services
1 00%

97%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

Result

Target

Note:

This indicator considers customer satisfaction and whether the service met the customers' needs.
This indicator is calculated by firstly considering the satisfaction question which has a five point response scale with two positive and
two negative ratings around a neutral mid point, and calculating the percentage of satisfied respondents by selecting the two positive
ratings. Then the data is reviewed to identify the percentage of satisfied respondents who indicated the service also met their needs.
Sample selection: Customers who received a service in October to December 2007 were invited to complete a confidential survey
form.

Estimated population size was 19,861.
Total survey sample size was 1,348.
Number of respondents was 391.
Response rate was 29%.
Total survey results have a 95 % confidence interval of +/- 4.9%.
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1.2

Number of substantiated breaches of regulations arising from allegations per licensed child care
service

The department is responsible for licensing child care services. Child care services are required to operate in
line with legislation and regulations. The rate of regulation breaches is an indicator of the effectiveness of the
licensing and regulatory regime to assist with ensuring the provision of quality child care to the community. This
indicator uses data from the Child Care Licensing System.

Table 7
Number of substantiated breaches of regulations arising from allegations made to Child Care Licensing
and Standards Unit (CCLSU) per licensed service
2007-08

Result
!Substantiated breaches per licensed service

!

0.016

Target
0.03!

Substantiated Breaches per Licensed Service
0.035
0.03
0.03
0.025
0.02
0.016
0.015
0.01

0.005
0

Result

Target
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Percentage of stakeholders who report they were satisfied with policy and coordination

1.3

projects
The department undertakes a range of strategic policy and coordination projects in relation to children and
families; youth; seniors; women; family and domestic violence and volunteering. External stakeholders involved
with these projects were surveyed as to whether or not they were satisfied with the projects and perceived
impact of the project.

Table 8
Percentage of stakeholders who report they were satisfied with policy and coordination projects
2007-08

Target

Result
88%!

!Stakeholder satisfaction

90%1

Stakeholder Satisfaction
100%

88%

90%

Result

Target

80%-

60%-

40%-

20 %-

0%

Note:

This indicator considers stakeholder satisfaction and the perceived impact of the project.
This indicator is calculated by firstly considering the satisfaction question which has a five point response scale with two positive and
two negative ratings around a neutral mid point, and calculating the percentage of satisfied respondents by selecting the two positive
ratings. Secondly the data is reviewed to identify the percentage of satisfied respondents who perceived there was a positive impact of
the project.
The target did not take into account perceived impact of the project.
Sample selection: External stakeholders who were involved in strategic policy and coordination projects in relation to youth, seniors,
women, family and domestic violence and volunteering were surveyed throughout the year. No external stakeholders were surveyed in
relation to Children and Families projects as the projects were not at a point where it was appropriate to survey stakeholders.
Estimated population size was 5,075.
Total survey sample size was 1,226.
Number of respondents was 535.
Response rate was 44%.
Total survey results have a 95% confidence interval of +/-4.0%.
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OUTCOME 2

A Western Australian public sector which recognises that Western Australians play a

significant role in setting policies that shape their society, and in which there is

widespread acceptance of the principle of multiculturalism to enable the achievement
of substantive equality for culturally and linguistically diverse communities.
The department works towards a Western Australian public sector in which there is widespread acceptance of
the principles of multiculturalism to enable the achievement of substantive equality for culturally and linguistically
diverse communities. The department assists Government to promote and support multiculturalism by:
promoting the ideals of multiculturalism to public sector agencies by developing and influencing policies that
reflect these principles; and
providing information to culturally and linguistically diverse communities on the availability of public sector
services.
2.1

Extent to which the principles of multiculturalism are accepted and practiced in Western
Australia

This indicator measures whether or not the behaviour of public sector agencies is considered to be consistent
with the multicultural principles of civic values, fairness, equality and participation.

Table 9
Extent to which the principles of multiculturalism are accepted and practiced in Western Australia
2007-08

Target

Result
Extent to which the principles of multiculturalism are
accepted and practiced in WA

64%

1

65%

Extent to which Principles of Multiculturalism are Accepted and Practiced in WA
100%

80%

64%

65%

Result

Target

60%

40%

20%

0%

Note:

This indicator is calculated by combining the responses to four questions measuring the extent to which the behaviour of public sector
agencies is perceived to be consistent with the principles of civic values, fairness, equality and participation. These four questions all
have a five point response scale. This indicator includes the two highest ratings for each question.
Sample selection: Community groups and associations with which the department interacted during 2007-08 in the delivery of its
multicultural initiatives, programs and activities.
Estimated population size was 205.
Total survey sample size was 205.
Number of respondents was 138.
Response rate was 67%.
Total survey results have a 95% confidence interval of +/-4.8%.
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2.2

Extent to which policies and practices of public sector agencies reflect the principles of
multiculturalism

Table 10
Extent to which policies and practices of public sector agencies reflect the principles of
multiculturalism
2007-08

Target

Result
:Extent to which policies and practices of public sector
;agencies reflect principles of multiculturalism

77% l

75%1

Extent to which Policies and Practices of Public Sector Agencies
Reflect Principles of Multiculturalism

100%
80%-

77%

75%

Result

Target

60%40%20%0%

Note:

This indicator is calculated by combining the responses to eight questions measuring the extent to which the practices and policies of
public sector agencies reflect the principles of civic values, fairness, equality and participation. These eight questions all have a five
point response scale. This indicator includes the two highest ratings for each question.
Sample selection: state public sector agencies with which the department interacted during 2007-08 in the delivery of its multicultural
initiatives, programs and activities.
Estimated population size was 46.
Total survey sample size was 46.
Number of respondents was 39.
Response rate was 85%.
Total survey results have a 95 % confidence interval of 4-6.1%.
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INDICATORS OF EFFICIENCY

The department's efficiency indicators mostly relate to unit costs of its activities. Some of the department's work
is unable to be distilled into equivalent units of output, so the average costs of projects and services should be
treated as broadly indicative of performance.

Service 1: Community and Family Support
1.1

Average cost per service

The department provides and funds a number of services to support children and families. These include:
Parenting Services; Early Years Programs; Parent Link Home Visiting Services; Best Start and Family Centres.

Table 11
Average cost per service
2007-08

Result
Total cost
!Number of services
Average cost per service

$9,395,4301
71

$132,3301

Target
$8,397,580
63

$133,295

Average Cost per Service
$150,000

$132,330

$133,295

Result

Target

$120,000

$90,000

$60,000

$30,000

$0

Note:

The increase in total cost is due partly to the carryover of funding from 2006-07 to 2007-08 for Early Years' initiatives. This increase is
also a result of a higher level of overhead expenditure due to the creation of the Department for Communities.
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Service 2: Child Care Services
2.1

Average cost per licensed service

As at 30 June 2008 there were 1,413 licensed child care services in Western Australia, consisting of 563 child
care centres, 639 family day care services, 208 outside school hours care centres and three outside school
hours family day care services. Combined, these services offered 41,498 child care places throughout the State
at any one time.

Table 12
Average cost per licensed service
2007-08

Target

Result
Total cost
Number of licensed services
Average cost per licensed service

1

$7,968,141
1,413
$5,639

$7,492,5861
1,500
$4,995

Average Cost per Licensed Service

Note:

The increase in unit cost is due a small decrease in the number of licensed services and an increase in the total cost. The increase in
expenditure, in comparison to the target, was due to a 50% increase in staff allocated to licensing.
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Service 3: Strategic Policy and Coordination
3.1

Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for youth

I

The department coordinates policy development across government to improve outcomes for young people.
This includes strategic policy advice, research and information dissemination. The department also seeks to
empower young people to facilitate their involvement at all levels in the community.

Table 13
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for youth
2007-08

Target

Result
Total cost
Number of projects
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for
youth

$6,250,911
21

$6,962,201 I

$297,662

161

$435,1381

Average Cost per Strategic Policy/Coordination Project for Youth
$500,000
$435,138
$400,000
$297,662
$300,000

$200,000

$100,000

$0

Result

Target

Note:

Reduced expenditure in 2007-08 is due to lower than anticipated expenditure on the Indigenous Youth Leadership Program and Youth
Development Officers in the metropolitan and regional areas.
The reduction in the unit cost compared with the budget is due to lower than anticipated expenditure for the Indigenous Youth
Leadership Program and Youth Development Officers as well as an increased number of youth projects.
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3.2

Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for children and families

The department leads the development and implementation of the across-government Early Childhood Agenda.

It also promotes children's early learning and development through a range of projects designed to support
parents and to deliver quality children's services.

Table 14
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for children and families

i

2007-08

Result
Total cost
!Number of projects
!Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for
'children and families

$1,384,236 I
8I

$173,0301
..

Target

i

$804,264
n/a!
n/a
.
..

Note:

The 2007-08 Budget has been restated to include this new service measure. Subsequently additional projects were added during the
year which has increased the expenditure in the 2007-08 Result.
The number of strategic policy/coordination projects for children and young people for 2007-08 is the sum of the number of strategic
policy/coordination projects for children and families and for youth, i.e. 29.
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3.3

Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for seniors

The department promotes positive ageing and encourages across-government planning for the ageing
population. It also seeks to improve the community participation of older people and to improve community
attitudes towards older people.

Table 15
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for seniors
2007-08

Result
$3,464,077

[Total cost
Number of projects

49

Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for
seniors

$70,695

Target
$3,518,5061
491

$71,806

Average Cost per Strategic Policy/Coordination Project for seniors
$100,000

$80,000

$70,695

$71,806

Result

Target

$60,000

$40,000

$20,000

$0

Note:

The decrease in expenditure is mainly due to the restructure of the Department for Communities within 2007-08, which resulted in a
redistribution of overhead expenditure between services.
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3.4

Average cost of a Seniors Card

The Seniors Card is used as a major tool to enhance positive ageing. The financial benefits associated with the
Seniors Card encourage seniors to actively participate in the community. As at 30 June 2008 there were
262,634 Seniors Card holders in the state, representing 75% of all Western Australians aged 60 years and over
and approximately 86% of eligible seniors.

Table 16
Average cost per Seniors Card
2007-08

Target

Result
Total cost
Seniors Cards managed
'Average cost per Seniors Card

$808,4071
262,6341
$3.08 I

$903,9551
269,987
$3.35

Average Cost per Seniors Card
$5.00

$4.00
$3.35
$3.08
$3.00

$2.00

$1.00

$0.00
Result

Target

Note:

The decrease in expenditure is mainly due to the restructure of the Department for Communities within 2007-08, which resulted in a
redistribution of overhead expenditure between services.
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3.5

Average cost per strategic/policy coordination project for volunteers

The department works to develop and implement government policy for volunteering; develop programs and

initiatives that support and extend volunteering now and into the future; and establish mechanisms of
communication within the public sector and the wider community to develop partnerships through consultation.

Table 17
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for volunteers
2007-08

Target

Result
Total cost
Number of projects
!Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for
volunteers

$1,437,6787

$1,423,9371

14 :

11

$102,6911

$129,449

Average Cost per Strategic Policy/Coordination Project For
Volunteers
$150,000
$129,449
$120,000
$102,691

$90,000

$60,000

$30,000

$0
Result

Target

Note:

The decrease in the unit cost is due to an increase in the number of volunteering projects.
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3.6

Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for women

The department coordinates policy development across government to improve outcomes for women. This
includes research, analysis, information and advice on issues affecting women. A range of information services
are also provided to women in the community.

Table 18
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for women
2007-08

Target

Result
Total cost
Number of projects
!Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for
women

$2,085,4341

$2,283,441

29!

29!

$71,9121

$78,7391

Average Cost per Strategic Policy/Coordination Project for Women
$100,000
$78,739
$80,000

$71,912

$60,000

$40,000

$20,000

$0
Result

Target

Note:

The reduction in expenditure in 2007-08 is due to a delay in the disbursement of Women's Grants and reduced expenditure on events
such as International Women's Day and the Women's Fellowship.
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3.7

Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for family and domestic violence

The department coordinates the across-government response to family and domestic violence through a range
of strategic policy and coordination projects to address family and domestic violence.

Table 19
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for family and domestic violence
2007-08

Target*

Result

M.

Total cost
:Number of projects
Average cost per strategic policy/coordination project for
family and domestic violence

$1,913,5151

$2,495,925

141

9

$136,6801

$277,325

Average Cost per Strategic Policy/Coordination Project for Family
And Domestic Violence
$300,000
$250,000
$200,000
$150,000

$136,680

$100,000
$50,000
$0
Result

Target

Note:

Lower expenditure in 2007-08 is due to some of the Family and Domestic Violence (FDV) Regional Coordination Response Services
not operating the full year as anticipated in the budget.
The decrease in the unit cost is due to some of the FDV Regional Coordination Response Services not operating the full year as
anticipated in the budget as well as an increased number of Family and Domestic Violence projects.
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Service 4: Redress Scheme for Children and Young People Abused in the Care of the
State
4.1

Average administrative cost per claim

The Redress Scheme aims to assist adults who, as children, were abused and/or neglected in State care in
Western Australia. The scheme opened for applications on 1 May 2008. As at 30 June 2008 no claims had
been processed. The total establishment cost for the service in 2007-08 was $632,831.

Service 5: Promotion and Support of Multiculturalism in Western Australia
5.1

Average cost per policy project/initiative for multiculturalism

This indicator reports the cost of promoting multiculturalism to the wider community, supporting its
implementation across the public sector and significant policy and research activities.

Table 20
Average cost per policy project/initiative for multiculturalism
2007-08
1

Total cost
!Number of projects
Average cost per policy project/initiative for multiculturalism

1

Result 7
$4,956,0131
81

1

$61,1851

Target
$3,703,605]

1

60
$61,7271

Average Cost per Policy Project/Initiative for Multiculturalism
$100,000

$80,000
$61,185

$61,727

Result

Target

$60,000

$40,000

$20,000

$0

Note:

The increase in the total cost is due partly to the mid-year transfer of CelebrateWA and the inclusion of the Commonwealth funded
Men's Wellbeing Program.
The creation of the Department for Communities has also resulted in an increase in expenditure for this service through the allocation
of departmental overhead that was not included in the 2007-08 estimate.
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
Treasurer's Instruction 903(12) requires DfC to disclose information on any Ministerial
directives relevant to the setting of desired outcomes or operational objectives, the
achievement of desired outcomes or operational objectives, investment activities, and
financing activities. For DfC, no such directives were issued by the Ministers with portfolio
responsibility for the department during 2007-2008.

FINANCIAL AND OTHER DISCLOSURES
PRICING POLICIES OF SERVICES PROVIDED

The DfC does not provide goods or services for which it levies a charge.

CAPITAL WORKS

Table 21 below summarises the department's capital expenditure during 2007-2008. DfC
projects included upgrades to Child Care and Family Centres and works to office
accommodation in support of the establishment of the department.
In addition, the
department undertook a range of minor works projects under its programmed maintenance
budget of $375,000.

Table 21
I

Type of Project

Asset Type

I

Total
Budgeted
Cost

I

2007-08

Actual

2008-09
Estimated

I

$'0001

$'0001

$'0001

2441

3411

1501

2001

19

181'

444

360

Child Care and Family
Centres
Year Round Care
_Upgrades and other

Child Care and Family
'centres

!Office Accommodation -1
IDFC

IDFC- Establishment Dept Office Accommodation
!for Communities
1DFC

331
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EMPLOYMENT AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS

Staff Profile
As at 30 June 2008, the department employed a total of 266 permanent and fixed-term
employees. The average full time equivalent (FTE) usage for the financial year was 192.6
FTE. Female employees represent 89% (236) of the total workforce.

Table 22
Employment levels as at 30 June 2008
Location

Actual
Average FTE
Usage

Number of staff as at 30 June 2008
Full-Time

Part-Time

Total

2007-08(a)

P

F

P

F

93.6

74

25

28

17

144

28.1

17

9

3

3

32

Children & Family Services
Community Engagement
Office of the Director General
Office of Multicultural Interests
Policy & Planning
Redress WA
Resources

Total number of FTE/Staff:

4.8

4

3

1

8

18.8

13

7

3

1

24

37.4

19

9

3

8

39

0.9

3

1

9.1

4

9

1

192.6

134

63

38

1

5

14
31

266

(a) Information effective as at 26 June 2008

Key: P = Permanent
F = Fixed Term

The FTE figure represents the number of full-time-equivalent positions as at the end of the
financial year. (One FTE is defined as one full-time job for one financial year on the basis of
hours worked to normal award/agreement hours provisions.)

Employee Assistance Program

The Employee Assistance Program (EAP) is a confidential counselling service that
assists employees to overcome problems that may be causing difficulties in their work or
personal lives. This 24 hour state-wide program is a vital component of the health and safety
service provided to all employees within the department. The referral rate is projected to be
7.3%.

Training and Personal Development

The department is committed to the development of its employees into a skilled and
professional workforce with the capacity to adapt to change. During the year the training
agenda focussed on three areas:
o Developing the leadership capability of its senior staff and executive management
o Establishing a safe and healthy workplace
o Developing change management skills of staff to meet the needs of a new department.
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EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

The department has developed an interim Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO)
Management Plan to June 2009 and submitted it to the Office of Equal Employment
Opportunity (OEEO). The OEEO has assessed the plan as "providing adequate coverage of
requirements of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 The DfC will refine and update the plan
prior to 31 December 2008.

Key priorities for the department in terms of its human resource management practices will
include:
o
o
o

Increasing the workforce representation of employees from Indigenous and culturally
and linguistically diverse backgrounds, young people and people with disabilities;
Improving the distribution (equity) levels of women, Indigenous staff and people with
disabilities into more senior positions across the workforce
Effectively managing the transition of its mature age staff.

In 2009, the department will be developing its long-term EEO Management plan and
objectives.

Table 23
Actual employee numbers in equal opportunity rou s
Total
Workforce

Period

FTE.

30 June 2008 (Actual)

Head Count Numbers
Women

Culturally
Diverse

Indigenous
Australians

People with
Disabilities

Young
People
(<25 Yrs)

236

41

17

7

9

266

Table 24
Comparison of diversity rou trends as a percentage of total employees
Period

Women

Interim Target Plan to 30 June 2009:
30 June 2008 (Actual)

88.7%

Percentage representation
Culturally Indigenous
People with
Diverse
Australians
Disabilities

Young
People
(<25 Yrs)

15.0%

6.0%

3.0%

5.0%

15.4%

6.4%

2.6%

3.4%

As Table 24 indicates, 15.4% of the workforce are employees from culturally and
linguistically diverse backgrounds whilst 89% of all employees are female.

Table 25
Comparison of diversity rou s equity index trends
Equity Index
Period

Women

Culturally
Diverse

Indigenous
Australians

People with
Disabilities

Interim Target Plan to 30 June 2009:

77

100

45

65

30 June 2008 (Actual)

81

92

41

62

The Equity Index is a measure of the extent to which an EEO group is distributed across all
salary levels, in comparison to the total workforce. If the group has a similar distribution to
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the general workforce, the Equity Index is 100 (ideal). An index less than 100 indicates
compression of the EEO group at the lower position levels whereas an index above 100
indicates the group is more likely to be at the higher levels. Table 25 above indicates that
culturally and linguistically diverse employees are well distributed across the workforce
whereas Indigenous and People with Disabilities are compressed at the lower levels.

Table 26
Women in management tiers two and three (staff numbers
Year

30 June 2008 (Actual)

Tier 2

4

Female Numbers
Tier 3
Tier 2 & 3
(combined)
10

14

Table 27
Women in management tiers two and three (percentage
Year

Tier 2

Female Percentage
Tier 3
Tier 2 & 3
(combined)

Interim Target Plan to 30 June 2009:
30 June 2008 (Actual)

56.0%
57.1%

66.7%

63.6%

Table 27 indicates that women currently occupy 64% of management tiers two and three
(combined) across the department and 67% of all management tier three positions (two
levels below the Director General).
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GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES
CONTRACTS WITH SENIOR OFFICERS

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior
officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers
have substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the
Department for Communities and its senior officers.

AUDIT REVIEWS

The department undertook a comprehensive program of internal audit reviews during 200708. The Internal Audit Branch of the Department for Child Protection provides the internal
audit coverage via a service level agreement between the departments. The areas and

systems subject to audit were identified via a formal risk assessment that included
management requirements and generally accepted governance approaches. Internal audit
reports directly to the Department's Chief Executive Officer, the Director General, in relation
to audits undertaken for the Department for Communities.
The audits for 2007-08 included:
o Compliance with public sector human resource standards.
o Systems for funding to non government organisations/contract management.
o Contract for services.
o Assets and leases
o Workers compensation system.
o Personnel and payroll system.
o Complaints handling management
o IT network security of access.
o Information technology security/disaster recovery.
o Review of selected activities in DfC service delivery offices.
o Software licensing
o Strategic risk management
o Accounts payable/purchasing
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
ADVERTISING

ELECTORAL ACT 1907 SECTION 175ZE

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the department is required to
report on expenditure incurred during the reporting year on advertising, market research,
polling, direct mail and media advertising. The table below provides the required information
together with the names of recipient by category.

Table 28
Advertising and marketing expenditure 2007-2008

Organisation

Category
Advertising Agencies
Market Research
Organisations

Polling Organisations
Media Advertising
Organisations

Australian Chinese Times, CTV Perth,
Fremantle Herald, Vinton Browning
AIM WA, Katich Pty Ltd, Catalyse Pty
Ltd, Estill & Associates, Kerry Mulcahy,
MY DATA, Patterson Market Research,
Synovate Pty Ltd

Total Category
Amount
$5876

$116,953

Nil

Community Television Perth, Concept
Media, Have-a-Go News, Mandurah Mail,
Market Force Express, Market Force
Productions, Mary G Enterprises, Media
Decisions, MRTA of WA Inc. (6EBA

$208,700

FM),

Direct Mail
Organisations

Northern Guardian, Post Newspapers,
Rural Press Ltd, Rural Press Regional
Media, South West Printing and
Publishing
Australia Post, Courier Australia, Jobs
West, Northside Logistics,
Total Expenditure in 2007-08

$42,502
$374,031

DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN OUTCOMES

The Disability Services Act 1993 requires that public authorities develop a Disability Access
and Inclusion Plan (DAIP).

Since 1995 the former Department for Community Development (DCD) planned and
achieved outcomes to improve access and inclusion for people with disabilities. During 20062007 a new draft DAIP for the period 2007-11 was developed by DCD. On the splitting of the
DCD into DfC and DCP, the 2007-11 plan was adopted by DfC pending development of a
new plan for the period 2008-2012. During 2007-08 the DfC worked on the drafting of a DAIP
which was submitted to the Disability Services Commission in July 2008.
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RECORD-KEEPING PLAN

The State Records Act 2000 under s19 requires government agencies to have a
recordkeeping plan. The State Records Commission approved the department's Record
Keeping Plan in March 2008 and noted that the plan as tendered demonstrates progress
towards better practice in recordkeeping. The commission also acknowledged that the plan
indicated a strong commitment to addressing a range of issues within specific timeframes.

The DfC uses 'Objective' as its electronic document and records management system. Staff
are provided with training in the application.

The commission requested that the department's approved plan be reviewed prior to 10
March 2010.
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COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS AND ETHICAL CODES

In accordance with section 31(1) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994 the department
is required to comment on the extent to which it has complied with public sector standards,
codes of ethics and any other relevant code of ethics.

These policies and procedures are contained in a best practice manual, accessible by all
employees of the Department for Communities through the department's intranet.
1.

In the administration of the Department for Communities, I have complied with the
Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian
Public Sector Code of Ethics and the department's Code of Conduct.

2.

I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and conducted
appropriate internal assessment to satisfy myself that the statement made in 1. is
correct.

3. Compliance with the Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes is assessed by
regular internal and external reviews of related procedures and staff feedback. An
ethics and integrity awareness-raising program has commenced; it includes
awareness on the Public Sector Code of Ethics, the Code of Conduct and the Public
Sector Standards in Human Resource Management.

4. The department has commenced a staged process to update and renew its Code of
Conduct and Code of Ethics.
5. The department has received one claim of a breach of the Recruitment Selection and
Appointment Standard in the 2007-2008 year.

Susan Barrera
DIRECTOR GENERAL
5 September 2008
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GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS
CORRUPTION PREVENTION

The Premier's Circular No. 2005/02 requires a report on actions taken to prevent corruption.

The department targets potential risks in security of data, theft, fraud, unauthorised
transactions, misconduct and inappropriate use of departmental assets and purchases
through an annual review undertaken by the Internal Audit Branch using risk management
techniques. In line with the requirements of Premier's Circular 2005/02, the department
continued to develop strategies to identify and reduce the likelihood and consequence of
risks associated with corruption and misconduct.

In accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 825, the Internal Audit Branch targeted appropriate
areas and systems for audit. Treatment action plans are being developed as necessary as
risks arise. Regular reports on the development of the department's risk management plan

are tabled with the department's Internal Audit Committee and at executive meetings as
necessary.
SUBSTANTIVE EQUALITY

As a new entity the department is still at Level

1
in the implementation of the Policy
Framework for Substantive Equality. A commitment has been made to implementing the

policy framework and an interim policy has been adopted by the Corporate Executive.

A working party is currently scoping the implementation and will recommend to the Corporate
Executive an implementation process including resourcing and clear lines of accountability.

The Office of Multicultural Interests (a division of the department) is one of the program
partners for the overall Substantive Equality, the public sector anti-racism and equality
program.
SUSTAINABILITY

Premiers Circular 2004/14 required agencies to develop a three-year Sustainability Action
Plan for the years 2005-2007.

The Department for Communities is in its first full year of operation and has not as yet
developed a Sustainability Action Plan. The department however incorporates the principles
of sustainability in its operations and planning which it seeks to align with the Better Planning:
Better Futures framework and the sustainability dimensions which underpin the triple bottom
line components of the framework.

The department also pursues an environmental approach to procurement in accordance with
the State Supply Commission's policies and procedures.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Department for Communities is committed to providing a safe and healthy work
environment for its employees and members of the public who come into contact with the
department. All people charged with the management of others are responsible for the
maintenance of the safety and health standards for all operations and people in their control.
Employees and others engaged in working with or for the department must recognise their
joint responsibilities and cooperate in ensuring the highest possible safety and health
standards are maintained in all departmental activities.

The Occupational Safety and Health Committee is made up of eight occupational safety and
health members, five DCP management representatives, two DfC OSH representatives, one

DfC management representative, two consultants and is chaired by the Coordinator
Occupational Safety and Health. The committee meets every two months to discuss OSH
trends across both departments as well as ensuring occupational health and safety
compliance. The coordinator of occupational safety and health continues to actively promote
workplace health and safety by visiting metropolitan workplaces and completing visits to all
regional districts.

Workers' Compensation, Injury Management and Rehabilitation
The Department for Communities is committed to injury management of all injured employees
and has an effective injury management policy in place. This policy is compliant with the
injury management requirements of the Workers' Compensation and Injury Management Act
1981.

This policy is communicated by the coordinator injury management in a number of ways to
employees and managers in numerous ways including via the intranet (which has step by
step processes for both the employer and the employee), site visits involving presentations
on workers compensation, and one-on-one meetings with team leaders and managers to
ensure they are aware of their responsibilities in regards to returning an injured employee to
work.

During the injury management process regular meetings are held between the relevant
manager and injured employee, in consultation with the coordinator injury management, to
discuss return-to-work options. A return-to-work program is developed by the manager (with
the assistance of the injury management coordinator) in consultation with the injured worker
and the worker's treating medical practitioner.

Table 29
Workers-compensation and lost time incidents

2007-08
1
Total workers' compensation claims
1
Lost time injuries (days)
Lost time injury/disease incidence rate (a)
0.38
100.00
Lost time severity rate
Number of fatalities
0
$26,731
Total estimate
a
Number of claims occurring in 2007-2008 financial year where one day or more is estimated to be lost.
A smaller rate indicates an improving trend.
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LOCATION, SERVICES, PROGRAMS AND AMENITIES
APPENDIX 1: FUNDED SERVICES AND GRANTS
Grants and Funded Services

Department for Communities
Service Funding
Albany and Regional Volunteer Service Inc.
Anglicare WA Inc.
Ardyaloon Inc.
Armada le Community Family Centre Inc.
Armada le Domestic Violence Intervention Project Inc.
Australia Day Council of Western Australia
Bayswater Drill Hall and Family Centre Inc.
Bidyadanga Aboriginal Community La Grange Inc.
Binningup Playgroup and Occasional Care Inc.
Boddington Bear Occasional Child Care Centre Inc.
Boystown Limited
Bremer Bay Community Resource Centre Inc.
Bunuba Inc.
Busselton Dunsborough Environment Centre Inc.
Busselton Family Centre Inc.
Carers Association of WA
Carnamah Child Care Centre Inc.
Centrecare
Churchill Brook Family Centre Inc.
City of Armada le
City of Cockburn
City of Fremantle
City of Geraldton
City of Melville
City of Ned lands
City of Swan
Coastal Family Health Services Inc.
Connect Groups Support Groups Association WA
Inc.

Dardanup Community Centre Inc.
Denham Occasional Care Association Inc.
Denmark Occasional Day Care Centre Inc.
Djarindjin Aboriginal Corporation Inc.
East Victoria Park Family Centre Inc.
Eastern Goldfields YMCA Inc.
Eastern Region Domestic Violence Services Network
Eaton Combined Playgroup Inc.
Fairbridge Western Australia Inc.
Fluffy Ducklings Day Care Inc.
Forest Lakes Thorn lie Family Centre Inc.
Frank Konecny Community Centre Inc.
Giggle Pots Day Care Inc.
Goomalling Gumnuts Inc.
Gowrie Community Services (WA) Inc.
Granny Spiers Community House Inc.
Greenfields Family Centre Inc.
Guides Western Australia Inc.
Harvey Occasional Child Care Centre Inc.
High Wycombe Out of School Care Centre Inc.
Hudson Road Family Centre Inc.
Hyden Occasional Child Care Assoc Inc.
Jarlmadangah Burru Aboriginal Corporation
Jerramungup Occasional Childcare Association Inc.
Joondalup Family Centre Inc.
Kalbarri Occasional Child Care Inc.

Department for Communities

Kalgoorlie Boulder Volunteer Centre Inc.
Karratha Family Centre Inc.
Katanning Community Childcare Centre Inc.
Kingfisher Park Family Centre Inc.
Kojonup Occasional Care Centre Inc.
Kulungah Myah Family Centre Inc.
Leeuwin Ocean Adventure Foundation
Little Jitters Occasional Child Care Inc.
Looma Community Inc.
Manjimup Volunteer Resource Centre
Marangaroo Family Centre Inc.
Meerilinga Young Children's Services Inc.
Men's Outreach Service Inc.
Mullewa Occasional Care Service Inc.
Mundaring Sharing Inc.
Nannup Occasional Child Care Association Inc.
Nannup Telecentre Inc.
Narembeen Numbats Occasional Child Care
Association Inc.
Ngala Community Services
Ngoonjuwah Council Aboriginal Corporation
Ngunga Group Women's Aboriginal Corporation
Noah's Ark Toy Library & Resource Centre Inc.
Northampton Occasional Child Care Association Inc.
Northcliffe Family Centre Inc.
Northern Suburbs Community Legal Centre Inc.
Ons low Occasional Child Care Association Inc.
Outcare Inc.
Pandanus Park Aboriginal Corporation
Pat Thomas Memorial Community House Inc.
Patricia Giles Centre Inc.
Peel Volunteer Referral Agency Inc.
Playgroup WA Inc.
Resource Unit for Children With Special Needs Inc.
Roleystone Neighbourhood Family Centre Inc.
Rostrata Family Centre Inc.
Saints Care Limited
Sandalwood Family Centre Inc.
Share and Care Community Services Group
Shire of Esperance
Shire of Quairading
South Lake Ottey Family and Neighbourhood Centre
The Boodie Rats (Mukinbudin Occasional Care) Inc.
The Boy's Brigade Western Australia
The Churches Commission On Education Inc.
The Duke of Edinburgh's Award (WA Division)
The Girl's Brigade Western Australia Inc.
The Lucy Saw Centre Association Inc.
The Scout Association of Australia WA Branch
Volunteer Centre of Western Australia Inc.
Volunteer South West Inc.
Waikiki Community & Family Centre Inc.
Walpole Family Centre Inc.
Wanslea Family Services Inc.
Waratah Christian Community Inc.
Westerly Family Centre Inc.
Whitford Family Centre Inc.
Wickepin District Resource and Telecentre Inc.
Women's Health Care Association Inc.
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Wongan Cubbyhouse Inc.
Wood lupine Family Centre Inc.
Yangebup Family Centre Inc.
Yilgarn Occasional Child Care Centre Inc.
Young Achievement Australia
Youth Affairs Council of Western Australia
Youth Focus Inc.

Department for Communities
Grant Funding
Early Years Grants
Anglicare WA Inc.
Dar Al Shifah (Islamic Incorporated)
Shire of Carnarvon
Shire of Murray

Grandfamilies Support Initiatives Grants
Wanslea Family Services Inc.
Victoria Park Youth Accommodation Inc.
Community Vision Inc.
Geraldton Streetwork Aboriginal Corporation

International Activities Grant Program 2008
Albany Youth Support Association
City of Albany
Midwest Aboriginal Media Association Inc.
Shire of Katanning
Women's Health Resource Centre Inc.

International Women's Day Sponsorships for
Regional Development Commissions
Broome Circle
Gascoyne Development Commission
Gingin Observatory
Rainbow Coast Neighbourhood Centre

International Women's Day Sponsorships for WA
Women's Advisory Network Member
Organisations
Ethnic Communities Council of WA Inc.
Mu lark Aboriginal Corporation
National Council of Women of WA Inc.
People with Disabilities (WA) Inc.
Unions WA
Women's Council for Domestic and Family Violence
Services (WA) Inc.

National Youth Week 2008
6EBA-Multicultural Radio Television Association of
WA Inc.
Albany Work link Inc.
Albany Youth Support Association
Avon Valley Arts Society Inc.

ARTATAC Busselton Beach Festival Inc.
Ballajura Youth and Community Venture Inc.
Boyup Brook Youth Advisory Council
Broome Youth Support Group
City of Belmont
City of Bunbury
City of Canning
City of Geraldton-Greenough
City of Gosnells
City of Joondalup Youth Services
City of Mandurah Billy Dower Youth Centre
City of Ned lands
City of Stirling
City of Wanneroo
Collie Police and Community Youth Centre
Collie Welfare Council Inc.
Coolgardie Youth Advisory Council
Cultural Infusion Ltd

Edmund Rice Centre Inc.
Esperance Local Community Partnership
Federation of Western Australian Police and Citizens
Youth Club
Fremantle Community Youth Service
Geraldton Streetwork Aboriginal Corporation
Hepatitis Council of WA
Jobs South West Inc.
Ku lin Telecentre
Lake Grace Youth Advisory Council
Lance lin Telecentre
Local Drug Action Groups Inc. (Kalbarri branch)
Manjimup Family Centre
Merredin Telecentre
Midland Police and Community Youth Centre
Mos Arts

Mt Barker YouthCARE
Muslim Youth WA
Northcliffe Family Centre
Parkerville Children and Youth Care Inc.
Police and Citizens Youth Club Geraldton
Pemberton Sports Club Inc.
Quinninup Community Association
RAWA Community School Aboriginal Corporation
Shire of Serpentine Jarrandale
Shire of Ashburton
Shire of Cape!
Shire of Coolgardie
Shire of Cue
Shire of Dardanup
Shire of Denmark
Shire of Dowerin
Shire of Katanning
Shire of Kondinin
Shire of Merredin
Shire of Moora
Shire of Morawa
Shire of Mukinbudin
Shire of Mullewa
Shire of Pingelly
Shire of Waroona
Southern Cross Telecentre
The Escape Youth Group
The Shire of Nannup
The United Eritean Association of WA Inc.
Town of Bassendean Youth Services
Town of Kwinana
Town of Victoria Park
Town of Vincent
Walpole Telecentre Inc.
Wickepin Telecentre
Wyalkatchem Children and Youth Group
YMCA of Perth Youth Headquarters
Youth Involvement Council Inc.

One off Seniors Grants
City of Mandurah
Council on the Ageing WA Inc.
Volunteer Resource Centre Manjimup Inc.
Seniors Recreation Council of WA Inc.
Surf Life Saving Western Australia Inc.
Western Australian Council of Social Services Inc.

Regional Volunteering Small Grants
Albany Community Hospice Inc.
Albany and Regional Volunteer Service
Australian Breastfeeding Association
Australian Red Cross, WA Division
Beverley Community Resource and Telecentre Inc.
Bridgetown Telecentre
Broome Barracudas Swimming Club
Carnarvon Speedway Club
Collie Gymnastics
Friends of Karlarra House
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Friends of the Mandurah Performing Art Centre Inc.
Jurien Community Centre Association Inc.
Kalbarri Community Telecentre
Koorda Telecentre Inc.
Lance lin Telecentre
Nannup Volunteer Resource Centre
Ord Valley Muster
Perenjori Telecentre
Riding for the Disabled (Collie Group)
Rural Community Legal Service Inc.
St John Ambulance (Lake Grace)
The Escape Youth Group Inc.
Volunteer South West Inc.

Thank a Volunteer Day Grants
Albany and Regional Volunteer Service Inc.
Arts and Cultural Development Council of Geraldton
Inc.

Bayswater and Family Centre Inc.
Breast Cancer Foundation of WA Inc.
Carers Association of Western Australia Inc.
Centacare Family Services
Centrecare Inc.
Christian City Church Fremantle Inc.

City of Geraldton Greenough
City of Melville
City of Rockingham
City of South Perth
City of Wanneroo Volunteer Hub
Cunderdin and Districts Telecentre
Equestrian Federation of Australia
Esperance Volunteer Resource Centre
Fire and Emergency Services of Western Australia
Fremantle Multicultural Centre Inc.
Hotham Valley Tourist Railway Inc.
Kalamunda Community Care Inc.
Kalgoorlie Boulder Volunteer Centre
Koorda Telecentre Inc.
Manjimup Volunteer Resource Centre
Nannup Telecentre
Peel Bowling and Social Club
Peel Volunteer Resource Centre
People Who Care Inc.
Perth Basketball Association Inc.
Pingaring Progress Association
Pingelly Telecentre and Resource Facility Inc.
Pinjarra Primary School P and C Association
Shire of Ashburton
Shire of Boddington
Shire of Corrigin
Shire of Dalwallinu
Shire of Donnybrook/Balingup
Shire of Dowerin
Shire of Kondinin
Shire of Ku lin

Shire of Merredin
Shire of Tammin
Shire of Toodyay
Shire of Waroona
Shire of Wyalkatchem
Town of Bassendean
Town of Claremont
Town of Kwinana
Volunteer South West
Volunteering WA (Joondalup VRC)
Walpole Community Resource Telecentre Inc.
Wickepin District Resource and Telecentre Inc.
Wickham Events Inc.

WA Family Foundation Sponsorship Grants
Adult Learning Australia Inc.
Barnardos Australia

Family Inclusion Network of Western Australia Inc.
Foothills Information and Referral Service Inc.
Learning Centre Link Inc.
Local Government Community Development
Association of WA Inc.
Playgroup WA Inc.
Rainbow Coast Neighbourhood Centre Inc.
Shire of Mullewa
Western Australian Council of Social Service Inc.
Women's Healthworks Health Education and
Resource Centre Inc.

WA Grants for Women Program
Broome Regional Aboriginal Medical Service
Extra Edge Community Services Inc.
Frank Konecny Community Centre Inc.
Friends of Community Health
Goldfields Individual and Family Support Association
Inc.

Jacaranda Community Centre Inc.
Midwest Family Support Association Inc.
Mum's Time
Muslim Women's Support Centre of WA Inc.
Nardine Wimmin's Refuge Inc.
Southside Care Department of Champion Lakes
Christian Church Inc.
St Peter's Anglican Ladies of Wongan Hills
Dalwallinu
Tamil Ladies Club of WA Inc.
Textile Clothing Footwear Resource Centre of
Western Australia
The Liebe Group Inc.
Toodyay Community Resource Centre
Town of Kwinana
Vietnamese Community in Carnarvon
Wanslea Family Services Inc.
West Kimberley Family Support Association Inc.
Western Desert Land Aboriginal Corporation
Wyndham Family Support Inc.
Yaandina Family Centre Inc.
Yawuru Jandu Aboriginal Corporation
Young Women's Christian Association of Perth Inc.
Zig Zag Community Arts Inc.

Women's Community Awards
Aileen Boyer
Hannah Mc Glade
Louise Gray
Sarah Robin
Shelley Gower

Youth Development Holiday Program Grants
Armada le Gosnells and Districts Youth Resources
Inc.

Association for the Blind of WA Inc.
Ballajura Youth and Community Venture Inc.
Bidyadanga Aboriginal Community La Grange Inc.
Billy Dower Youth Centre
Bridgetown Family and Community Centre
Brunswick and District Community Assoc Inc.
City of Belmont
City of Bunbury
City of Canning
City of Joondalup
City of Stirling
City of Wanneroo
Fairbridge Western Australia Inc.
Federation of Police and Citizens Youth Club Inc.
Geraldton Streetwork Aboriginal Corporation
Kalumburu Aboriginal Corporation Inc.
Kimberley Aboriginal Law and Culture Centre
Langford Aboriginal Association Inc.
Local Drug Action Groups Inc.
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Looma Community Inc.
Mundaring Arts Centre Inc.
Northcliffe Family Centre Inc.
Parkerville Children and Youth Care Inc.
Perth Basketball Association Inc.
Shire of Boyup Brook
Shire of Dandaragan
Shire of Dardanup
Shire of Denmark
Shire of Dumbleyung
Shire of Halls Creek
Shire of Katanning
Shire of Kondinin
Shire of Lake Grace
Shire of Moora
Shire of Nannup
Shire of Pingelly
South Perth Church of Christ Inc.
Swan City Youth Service Inc.
The Cannery Arts Centre
The Gowrie (WA) Inc.
The International Association for Human Values
(Australia) Ltd
The Salvation Army (WA) Property Trust
Town of Bassendean
Town of Kwinana
Wanslea Family Services Inc.
Warnbro Community Church of Christ Inc.
Waroona Community Centre Inc.
Wheatbelt Sports Council Inc.
YMCA of Perth Youth and Community Service Inc.

Youth Grants WA Small Grants
Albany Youth Support Association
Australian Red Cross
ARTATAC Busselton Beach Festival Inc.
Cambridge Youth Service
City of Geraldton-Greenough
City of Joondalup
Community First Inc.
Cool Room Youth Centre
Edmund Rice Camps for Kids WA Inc.
Escare Inc. Esperance Family Support and Youth
Service
Fremantle Police and Citizens Youth Club
Goldfields Transition Centre
Investing In Our Youth Inc.
Kalamunda Youth Theatre Company
Kalumburu Aboriginal Corporation
Local Government Youth Officers Network
Nannup Music Club
Northcliffe Youth Voice
Perth Young Christian Students Movement
Perth Youth Advisory Council
Shire of Carnamah
Shire of Katanning
Shire of Morawa
Shire of Mt Magnet
Shire of Mullewa
Shire of Northam
Shire of Pingelly
The Esther Foundation Inc.
The Salvation Army (Western Australia) Property
Trust
Tom Price Youth Support Association
Town of Kwinana
Uniting Care West
The Western Australian Deaf Society Inc.
Westonia Telecentre
Wyalkatchem Children and Youth Group Inc.

Youth Grants WA Special Project Grants
AWESOME Arts Australia Ltd

Kimberley Aboriginal Law and Culture Centre
Metropolitan Migrant Resource Centre

Youth Grants WA Sponsorship Grants
Bridging the Gap Inc.
Meerilinga Young Children's Foundation Inc.
Rockingham Kwinana Division of General Practice

Office of Multicultural Interests
Grants
Community Relations Integration Officers (CRIO)
Brockman House Inc.
Coalition Assisting Refugees, Asylum Seekers and
Detainees (CARAD)
Ethnic Disability Advocacy Centre Inc.
Gosnells Women's Health Service Inc.
Mission Australia
The Gowrie (WA) Inc.
The Muslim Women's Support Centre of WA Inc.

Inclusion and Integration Grants Program (IIGP)
Community First
Community Vision
Edmund Rice Centre
Learning Centre Link
Milligan House

Funding Agreements
Australia Day Council
Australian Asian Association
Celebrate WA
Coalition Assisting Refugees, Asylum Seekers and
Detainees (CARAD)
Ethnic Communities Council of WA
Multicultural Services Centre of Western Australia
(MAITREE)
National Accreditation Authority for Translators and
Interpreters (NAATI)

Community Grants Program
Afrikan Community in Western Australia Inc.
Al-Erfan Community Organisation Inc.
Australian Young Christian Workers Movement Inc.
Association for Services to Torture and Trauma
Survivors Inc.
Associazione Nazionale Famiglie degli Emigrati Inc.
Adoption Support for Families and Children Inc.
Australian Dance Council Ausdance (Western
Australian Branch) Inc.
Bengali Association of Western Australia Inc.
Bunbury Multicultural Group Inc.
Bunbury Community and Child Care Association
(Milligan House) Inc.
Bangladesh Australia Association of Western
Australia Inc.
Burundians Community in Western Australia Inc.
Coptic Orthodox Church of Western Australia Inc.
Community Television Perth Inc.
Community Midwifery WA Inc.
Cadena Multicultural Association Inc.
Czech and Slovak Association in WA Inc.
Congolese Community of WA Inc.
Film & Television Institute (WA) Inc.
Fremantle Multicultural Centre Inc.
Goan Overseas Association Inc.
Gowrie Community Services (WA) Inc.
Hayagriva Buddhist Centre Inc.
Hazara Ethnic Society of WA Inc.
Hospice of Mother Tara Inc.
Ishar Multicultural Women's Health Centre Inc.
Kulcha Multicultural Arts Centre of WA Inc.
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Karen Welfare Association of WA Inc.
Kora Centre Inc.
Lions Club of Jandakot Lakes Inc.
Langford Aboriginal Association Inc.
Midland Women's Health Care Place
Multicultural Services Centre of Western Australia
Inc.

Men of the Trees Inc.
Nepali Association of Western Australia (NAWA) Inc.
Polish Community Council of WA Inc.
Royal Life Saving Society Western Australia Branch
Rhein Donau Club Inc.
Russian Social Club of WA Inc.
Soul Gestures Inc.
Sri Lankan Sinhalese Buddhist Society Inc.
South Coastal Women's Health Services (SCWHS)
Shinju Matsuri Inc.
Tibetan Ancient Ritual Arts WA Inc.
Thai-Australian Association of WA Inc.
The Thai Australian Association of WA Inc.
The United Eritrean Association of WA Inc.
West Australian-German Business Association Inc.
Western Australia Gould League Inc.
West Coasters Netball Club Perth Region Inc.
West Australians for Racial Equality (WARE) Inc.
WA Sri Lanka (Ceylon) Association Inc.
Zoroastrian Association of Western Australia Inc.
(ZAWA)

Harmony Grants
Curtin University of Technology
Muslim Social and Sports Association (WA) Inc.
Tenants Advice Service
Gravity Discovery Centre Foundation Inc.
The Macedonian Cultural Centre Western Australia
Inc

Ethnic Communities Council of Western Australia Inc.
Australian Sign Language Interpreters Association
Inc.

Sponsorships
City of Stirling
Shire of Katanning
City of Melville
Furqan Islamic Association
South West Migrant and Multicultural Service Inc.

The Billy Dower Youth Centre The City of Mandurah
FORM Contemporary Craft and Design
Barking Gecko Theatre Company
Campbell Primary P & C Assoc.
South Sudan Community Association of WA Inc.
Huntingdale Primary School
Coodanup Community College P & C Association
Inc.

Mirrabooka Senior High School P & C
Burundians Community in WA Inc.
Australind Public Library
Australian Somalian Association Inc.
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APPENDIX 2: ADVISORY COMMITTEES
Human Services Industry Roundtable
Terms of Reference
The Human Services Industry Roundtable (HSIRT) has been established to provide a co-ordinated
approach to the development of policy, programs and services in key human service areas such as
health, housing, community services and employment and training. It achieves this by:
o
Improving and strengthening the relationship between the Government and Non-Government
sectors, promoting a proactive and consistent policy approach in line with the Government's
goals of coordination, inclusion, collaboration and flexibility.
o
Developing a whole of Government policy addressing the issues of community consultation
and engagement in social policy and program planning development between the Government
and Non-Government sectors.
o
Developing policies related to the funding and purchasing of services such as sustainability,

indexation, the management of growth, and the management of unmet need between the
o

o

Government and Non-Government sectors.
Identifying strategies to build the capacity of the Non-Government sector that will result in more
effective and efficient practices, Including practical reforms that ensure appropriate allocation of
resources and contribute to good corporate governance.

Identifying strategies that contribute to the engagement and enabling of consumers and
community members in the development of services to the Western Australian community.

Membership
Government representatives
Hon. Sue Ellery MLC
(Interim Chairperson)
Hon. Margaret Quirk MLA
Mr John Hyde MLA
Mr Emiliano Barzotto
Dr Ron Chalmers
Mr Ellis Griffiths
Ms Norma Jeffery

Minister for Child Protection; Communities; Women's Interests; Seniors and
Volunteering
Minister for Corrective Services; Small Business; Minister Assisting the Minister for
Federal-State Relations
Parliamentary Secretary to the Attorney General; Minister for Health; Electoral Affairs
Chief of Staff, Office of the Minister for Housing; Works; Heritage; Indigenous Affairs;
Land Information
Director General, Disability Services Commission
A/Executive Director, Office of Multicultural Interests, DfC
Executive Director, Policy, Planning and Accountability, DET

Non-Government representatives
Mr Chris Hall Deputy Chair
Mr Carlo Calogero
Ms Angela Hartwig
Ms Tricia Lee
Mr Francis Lynch
Ms Jill Rundle
Ms Marita Walker

President, Western Australian Council of Social Service Inc.(WACOSS)
Chief Executive Officer, National Disabilities Service WA (formerly (ACROD)
Coordinator, Women's Council for Domestic and Family Violence Services
Chief Executive Officer, Children, Youth and Family Agencies Association
Chief Executive Officer, Ruah Community Services
Chief Executive Officer, Western Australian Network of Alcohol and Other Drug
Agencies (WANADA)
Chief Executive Officer, Perth Home Care Services

Interim Secretariat
Ms Lisa Baker
Ms Lynn Mac Laren
Mr Shawn Boyle
Ms Fiona Lander
Ms Amie Bennett

Chief Executive Officer, WACOSS
Senior Policy Officer, WACOSS
Director, Social Policy Unit, Department of the Premier and Cabinet
A/Executive Director, Community Engagement, DfC
A/Senior Funding, Policy and Engagement Officer, DfC

Observers and Guests
Ms Susan Barrera
Ms Jacquie Thomson
Ms Ambre Morris
Mr Philip O'Donoghue

Director General, Department for Communities
Director, Grants and Community Development, Lotterywest
Principal Policy Officer, Office of the Treasurer
Principal Policy Advisor, Child Protection, Office of Minister Ellery
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Ministerial Child Care Advisory Committee
Terms of Reference
o

Monitors local, state, national and international trends and issues impacting on child care and
makes recommendations in relation to licensing and quality assurance to improve outcomes for
children.

o

Promotes and advocates for the interests of children and parents in government decision

o

making, policy, planning and practice related to child care and
Advises and promotes good quality child care services as an integrated early years support
and development strategy available to all children in Western Australia.

Membership
Dr Cheryl Davenport (Chair)
Ms Christine Cross
Ms Odette Haley
Ms Jackie Murray
Mrs Kathleen Pinkerton
Ms Patricia Rear
Mr Rory Vassal lo
Ms Gayle Heron
Ms Gudrun Benjamin
Ms Cora Ann Wilson
Ms Marcel le Psaltis-Saratsis
Dr Margaret Sims
Ms Angela Corrigan
Ms Lynn Christie-Whiteside
Ms Susan Hudd

Community Development Consultant
Professional Association for School Aged Child Care Services
Pilbara TAFE
Wheatbelt Organisation for Children's Services
Yorganop Child Care Aboriginal Corporation
Bright Futures Family Day Care
Child Care Association of WA
Liquor, Hospitality and Miscellaneous Union
CaLD Representative
Community Representative
Early Childhood Association of WA
Edith Cowan University
Department of Health
Department of Education and Training
Department for Communities

Child Care Regulations Consultative Committee (established 2006)
Terms of Reference
o

Advise the Minister and the department on further development of regulations

o

Advise and contribute to the process of consultation with the community and the child care
sector on further development of regulations for child care under the Children and Community

o

Services Act 2004 (now the Child Care Services Act 2007)
Provide advice and support on any other matters pertaining to the further development of the
regulations.

Membership
Hon. Kate Doust MLC (Chair)
Ms Maureen Allert
Ms Christine Cross
Ms Kathleen Pinkerton
Ms Pamela Ellis-Kane
Ms Bernadette Giambazi
Ms Gayle Heron
Ms Josique Lynch
Mr Tim Muirhead
Mr Eddie Powell
Ms Bev Sunkar
Ms Deborah Clune
Mr Mark Glasson
Ms Lynette Wong

Parliamentary Secretary to the Deputy Premier, Treasurer and Minister for State
Development
Pilbara Family Day Care and In Home Care Scheme
Professional Association for School Aged Child Care Services
Yorganop Child Care Aboriginal Corporation
Family Day Care Sponsors
Child Care Association of Western Australia
Liquor, Hospitality and Miscellaneous Union
Carewest
Child Care Advisory Committee
Family Day Care Schemes of Western Australia
Family Based Child Care Workers' Association
Wheatbelt Organisation for Children's Services
Department for Communities
Department for Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs
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Carers Advisory Council
Terms of Reference
o

o
o
o
o

Report annually on:
the performance by reporting organisations of their obligations under the Carers Recognition
Act 2004
compliance or non compliance by reporting organisations with the Act and
compliance or non compliance by reporting organisations with the Carers Charter.
Work to advance the interests of carers and promote compliance by applicable organisations
with the Carers Charter.

Make recommendations to the Minister on fostering compliance by applicable organisations
with the Carers Charter.
Secure the views of carers on issues relating to their caring role and provide ongoing advice to
the Minister on matters relating to carers.
Provide information and support to the applicable organisations to assist them to comply with
the Carers Charter.

o

Ensure that all carers groups are represented, Including younger carers, Indigenous and

o

culturally and linguistically diverse carers and carers from rural and remote areas.
Report to the Minister for Seniors and Volunteering.

Membership
Ms Lois Gat ley (Chair)
Ms Ellen Walker (Deputy Chair)
Mr Allan Golledge
Ms Clare Masolin
Ms Viv Hansen
Mr Charlie Rook
Mr Jim Mc Kiernan
Ms Judy Waymouth
Ms Khim Chooi Teo

Cadets WA Reference Group
Terms of Reference
o

Foster and promote the objectives of the Cadets WA program
Ensure a high level of coordination and cooperation between the host organisations involved in
the program

o

Provide strategic advice on policy issues relating to the promotion and development of the

o

o
o

program
Ensure the needs of participating host agencies are met within the objectives and framework of
the program
Encourage the development of cadet training and related activities in the state.

Membership
Ms Fiona Lander (Chair)
Ms Teresa Rayment
Sqn Ldr Rob Caldera
Mr Tony Chinnock
Ms Jill Neave
Lt.Col Bob Barber
Ms Alison Hansen
Mr Kevin Lange
Lt Cdr Carl Markovic
Snr. Sgt. Denise Grant
Ms Wendy Moss
Mr Robert Somerville AM
Mr Mel Brewer
Mr Matthew Hunt
Mr Geoff Hurren

Department for Communities
Fire and Emergency Services Authority
Australian Air Force Cadets
Catholic Education Office
St John Ambulance
Australian Army Cadets
Department of Environment and Conservation
Association of Independent Schools of WA
Australian Navy Cadets
Western Australia Police Service
Surf Life Saving WA
Department of Education and Training
Australian Red Cross
Department for Communities
(Executive Officer) Department for Communities
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Youth Media Group
Terms of Reference
o

Promote the positive image of young people by encouraging the media to promote a positive
image of young people and provide balanced reporting of youth issues.

Membership
Mr Ray Della-Polina (Chair)
Mr Kevin Campbell
Sir James Cruthers
Mr Garry Hawkins
Ms Fiona Lander
Mr Ian Leggoe
Mr Chris Wharton
Ms Alischa Wunsch

DP Sourcing
Community representative
Community representative
The Sunday Times
Department for Communities
Australia Post
Channel 7
The West Australian Newspaper

Advisory Group on Family and Domestic Violence Prevention and Early
Intervention
Terms of Reference
o
o
o
o

o

Review of existing evidence and evaluations on prevention and early intervention strategies in
relation to family and domestic violence.
Clarification of the type and extent of further research and evaluation required to develop and
deliver effective prevention and early intervention strategies.
Identification of opportunities and strategies to strengthen the evaluation and evidence base for
prevention and early intervention strategies.
Consideration of the recommendations of the Review of the Western Australian Freedom From
Fear Campaign and advise on community education strategies and other prevention and early
intervention strategies, including State and Federal Government initiatives.
Advise on community based prevention and early intervention strategies across a range of

settings such as schools, workplaces, the health sector and the wider community, with
o

particular attention to any relevant social policy settings.
Develop a clear set of recommendations and priorities for the next State Strategic Plan 2008
2011, with particular attention to Aboriginal and culturally and linguistically diverse
communities.

Membership
Ms Anne Moore
Dr Lisa Wood
Dr Colleen Fisher
Ms Phillipa Strempel
Ms Vivienne Pillay
Ms Sallee Pettit
Ms Lynn ley McGrath
Mr Gary Bryant
Ms Colleen Hayward
Ms Roia Atmar
Ms Lee Lombardi
Ms Maria Osman
Ms Angela Ryder
Mr David Cain
Ms Susan Senior
Mr Tom Clay

Women's Council for Domestic and Family Violence Services (WA)
School of Population Health, University of Western Australia
School of Exercise, Biomedical and Health Sciences, Edith Cowan University
Government Media Office
Multicultural Women's Advocacy Service
Department of Education and Training
Department for Health Women and Newborn Health Services
Men's Advisory Network
Telethon Institute for Child Health Research
Community Representative
Drug and Alcohol Office
Association for Services to Torture and Trauma Survivors
Relationships Australia
Department for Child Protection
Department of Corrective Services
WA Police
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Aboriginal Family and Domestic Violence Reference Group
Terms of Reference
o
o

Provide advice on policy development in relation to Aboriginal family violence.

Provide advice on strategies and actions identified in the Western Australian Family and
Domestic Violence State Strategic Plan 2004-2008 and subsequent action plans.

o
o
o

o
o

Promote greater collaboration between Government and non Government agencies that
provide family violence services to the Aboriginal community of Western Australia.
Identify gaps in Government policy and service provision.
Strengthen the work of the Family and Domestic Violence Unit through improved networking
with the wider Aboriginal community of Western Australia.
Assist Regional Coordination Responses to Family and Domestic Violence throughout Western
Australia to be more effective in addressing Aboriginal family violence.
Undertake consultation with communities.

Membership
Aboriginal Family and Domestic Violence Reference Group in recess awaiting the appointment of a
Senior Indigenous Policy and Engagement Officer.

Survivors Against Violence Everywhere (SAVE) (consumer advisory
group)
Terms of Reference
o

o
o

Provide advice on policy and practice issues which will improve outcomes for individuals who
access domestic violence services.
Provide advice on policy and procedure in relation to domestic violence for Government and
Non-Government services.
Participate in projects which contribute to domestic violence policy and service development in
government and non-government services.

Membership
The committee consists of eight women members. As the members of this committee are survivors of
domestic violence, there is a need to maintain confidentiality, so identifying details are not provided.

Family and Domestic Violence Senior Officers Group
Terms of Reference
o

The purpose of the Family and Domestic Violence Senior Officers' Group is to ensure a
coordinated and strategic across-government response to the issue of family and domestic
violence.

Membership
Mr Brad Jolly (Chair)
Ms Anne Moore
Mr Glenn Phillips
Ms Kay Benham
Ms Jill Mills
Ms Lynn ley McGrath
Ms Cheryl Barnett
Mr George Turnbull

Ms Francine Holder
Mr Shayne Maines
Mr Tom Clay
Mr John Brigg
Ms Mary Cowley
Mr Ronald Fernandez
Mr Shane Edmonds
Mr Steve Robins

Department for Communities
Women's Council for Domestic and
Family Violence Services
Family Violence Legal Services Indigenous Justice and Legal Assistance Division
Attorney General's Department
Department of the Attorney General
Commonwealth Government Department of Families, Housing, Community Services
and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA)
Department of Health
Department for Child Protection
Legal Aid
Disability Services Commission
Western Australian Police Service
Western Australian Police Service
Department of Education
Department for Indigenous Affairs
Centre link

Department for Housing and Works
Department for Corrective Services
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Indigenous Women's Congress
Terms of Reference
o

Act as a forum to provide comprehensive and representative advice to the Minister for
Women's Interests on issues of interest and importance to Indigenous women

o

Ensure the State Government is properly informed of the views of Indigenous women in
Western Australia on a wide range of issues

o

o
o
o

Provide reports and recommendations to the Minister for Women's Interests on matters of
particular concern to women
Establish and maintain effective communication with Indigenous women, relevant organisations
and individuals
Provide consumer feedback on relevant government programs and policies

Promote equal opportunity for Indigenous women in access to services and facilities,

o

employment, and participation in decision making and community activities
Report annually to the Minister for Women's Interests through the Office for Women's Policy
Establish and maintain cooperation with other advisory bodies and relevant machinery at state
and Commonwealth levels with a view to coordination of effort and activities
Work with the Office for Women's Policy to progress strategies for Indigenous women in priority

o

areas.
Reports to the Minister for Women's Interests.

o

o

Membership
Ms Helen McNeair (Chair)
Ms Ul li Corbett
Ms Doris Eaton
Ms Nancy Gordon
Mrs Pat Kopusar
Ms June Oscar
Ms Kerry Stack
Mrs Oriel Green
Ms Shirley Hansen
Mrs Shirley Hayward
Ms Lynn ley McGrath

Gascoyne/Murchison member
National Indigenous Women's Advisory Group representative
Pilbara member
Goldfields member
Perth Member
Kimberley member
Wheatbelt member
Perth member
Great Southern member
South West member
Ex officio member
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Women's Advisory Network of Western Australia
Terms of Reference
o
o

o
o

o

Provide advice to the Minister for Women's Interests and the Office for Women's Policy (OWP)
on priority issues in women's interests
Develop submissions for consideration by the Minister on priority issues in women's interests
Undertake consultation of member groups/organisations on priority issues in women's interests
Provide advice to the OWP and Minister on priority issues in women's interests which include,
but are not limited to, the OWP priority areas of Economic Independence; Safety and Justice;
Leadership and Governance; and Gender Equality

Abide by the Western Australian Government's Code of Ethics which indicates minimum
standards of conduct and integrity for the Western Australian Public Sector, with respect to
justice, respect for persons and responsible care

Membership
Ms Angela Hartwig Chair
Mrs Mary-Anne Bath
Ms Irina Cattalini
Ms Kate Davis
Ms Roslyn Harley
Dr Margaret Ker
Ms Shameema Kolia
Ms Marcia Kuhne
Ms Helen McNeair PSM
Ms Sandra Norman
Ms Judith Parker AM
Ms Olga Ramasamy OAM
Ms Donna Marie Fahie
Ms Laura Money
Ms Mary Gurgone

Women's Council for Domestic and Family Violence Services
People with Disabilities
Western Australia Council of Social Services
Community Legal Centres Association of WA
UnionsWA
Council of Churches of Western Australia
Ethnic Communities Council
Chamber of Commerce and Industry
Indigenous Women's Congress
Gay and Lesbian Community Services of WA
National Council of Women
Australian Asian Association of WA
Rural, Remote and Regional Women's Network
National Union of Students
Ex Officio Office of Women's Policy, DfC

Ethnic Youth Advisory Committee
Terms of Reference
o

To provide an opportunity for young people from culturally and linguistically diverse
backgrounds to provide input into government and non-government policies and programs.

Membership
Ethnic Community Represented
Ms Monika Dudek
Mr Ehab Elgammel
Ms Maryam Khan
Ms Jenita Kinariwala
Ms Shameema Kolia
Mr Daniel Dorevitch
Ms Barbara Nyein
Ms Lisa Vo
Mr Tijan Jusu
Mr Lem Baguot
Ms Elizabeth Gadshaw
Ms Merindah Bairnsfather-Scott
Mr Song Yu
Mr Rohalla Haidari

Polish
Arabic
Muslim
Indian/Kenyan
Muslim
Jewish
Burmese
Vietnamese
Sierra Leonean
Sudanese
Ethiopian
Aboriginal
Chinese
Hazara
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APPENDIX 3: OFFICE LOCATIONS
Metropolitan and Regional Locations
Metropolitan Offices
Head Office:
Level 7 Dumas House
2 Havelock Street
West Perth WA 6005

Office of Multicultural Interests
Level 26/197 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000

Child Care Licensing and Standards Unit
1st Floor, 111 Wellington Street
East Perth WA 6004

Seniors Card and Seniors Information Service
Level 1 Albert Facey House
469 Wellington Street
Perth WA 6000

Redress WA

Postal Address:
Locked Bag 6
West Perth WA 6872

Parent Help Centre Mount Law ley
28 Alvan Street
Mount Law ley WA 6050

Armada le

Evelyn Gribble Centre
Lot 94 Ninth Road
Brookdale, WA 6112
Armada le

145 Jull Street
Armada le WA 6112
Balcatta
334 Albert St,
Balcatta WA 6021

Cannington
Mason Bird Building
Cnr Lake & Grose Avenue
Cannington WA 6107

Cannington
Brookman House
25-27 Brookman Ave
Langford WA 6147

Department for Communities

Fremantle
25 Adelaide Street
Fremantle WA 6160
Midland
281 Great Eastern Hwy
Midland WA 6056

Mirrabooka
6 Ilkstone Place
Mirrabooka WA 6061

Warwick
Unit 7 Warwick Commercial Centre,
8 Dugdale Street
Warwick WA 6024
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Regional Locations
Albany

Boulder

Albany Family House
219 North Road
Albany WA 6330

WA 6432

Albany
25 Duke Street,
Albany WA 6330

Kalgoorlie
Maritana House
Cnr Boulder Rd and Cheetham St
Kalgoorlie WA 6403

Karratha

Broome
Cnr Coghlan and McPherson St,
Broome WA 6725

State Government Building
Cnr Searipple and Welcome Road
Karratha WA 6714

Broome

Kununurra

Broome Community House
Cnr Frederick and Weld Streets
Broome WA 6725

Cnr Konkerberry Dve and Messmate Way
Kununurra WA 6743

Laverton

Bunbury
Dalyellup Community Centre
Postal Address:
80 Spencer Street
Bunbury WA 6230

Bunbury
Milligan House
22-28 Stephen Street
Bunbury WA 6230

Bunbury
South West Parenting Services
Shop 27a Stirlings Centre
22-28 Stephen Street
Bunbury WA 6230

Laver Place,
Laverton WA 6440

Mandurah/Peel
Coodanup Family House
54-56 McLaggan Turn
Coodanup WA 6210
Moora
Resource Centre DCP
41 Clinch Street,
Moora WA 6510

Narrogin
Government Building
Park Street

Narrogin WA 6312
Carnarvon
Stuart House
13 Stuart Street
Carnarvon WA 6701

Carnarvon
Mungullah Village
Acacia Way
Carnarvon WA 6701

Northam/ Wheat Belt
Parenting Information Centre
26 Gordon Street Northam,
cnr Gordon and Chid low Streets
Northam WA 6401

Rockingham
8 Leghorn Street
Rockingham WA 6168

Collie
68 Wittenoom Street,
Collie WA 6225

Port Kennedy Family Activity Centre
5-9 Clipper Drive,
Port Kennedy WA 6172

Geraldton
Spalding Family Centre
75 Mitchell Street

Spalding WA 6530

South Hedland
Cnr Brand & Tonkin Streets
South Hed land WA 6722

Geraldton
SGIO Building, 1st Floor
45 Cathedral Ave
Geraldton WA 6530

Kalgoorlie
Kerspien House
127 Piesse Street,
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APPENDIX 4: PUBLICATIONS
Seniors and Carers
Have Your Say About The Laws That Regulate
Retirement Villages
Seniors Card Discount Directories 2007
Seniors D.L Leaflet
Active Ageing Strategy Report Booklet
Generations Together
Active Ageing Benchmark Indicators Report
Active Ageing Benchmark Indicators Summary
Active Ageing Strategy Report
CD Version
Carer's Bookmark
Carer's Charter
Carer's Recognition Act 2004 Brochure
Carer's Report Bringing Carers into Focus
Carer Recognition Building Tomorrow's
partnerships today
Carer Recognition Summary sheet
Crime Prevention for Seniors Booklet
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Seniors
Research Project 2006
Depression is not a normal part of ageing
leaflet
Depression self assessment card
Elder Abuse Protocol Guidelines for Action
Global Age-friendly Cities A Guide
Global Age-friendly Cities Checklist
Grandfamilies A Resource Guide 2nd Edition
Healthy Parks, Healthy People Brochure
Healthy Parks, Healthy People Poster
Living Histories Pack
Living Histories Posters
Living Histories Flyer
Older Peoples Rights Brochure
Planning Guide and Even Registration
Seniors Week 2007
Recognition Bringing Carers into Focus 30th
June 2006
Research into Community Attitudes to Elder
Abuse in WA
Safety Advice for Seniors
Scam Education Kits
Staying Mentally Healthy
Topic Sheet 1 Western Australia's Seniors
Population
Topic Sheet 4 Profile of WA Seniors
Topic Sheet 5 Seniors Safety and Crime
Topic Sheet 7 Staying Mentally Healthy
Topic Sheet 8 Active Ageing
Topic Sheet 9 Western Australia's Seniors an
Asset not a Burden
Transition in Aging Summary
WA Seniors and the Law
WA Guide for Planning an Active Retirement

Children and Family Services
A Picture of My Family
All Children Are Special Poster
Children Grow In Healthy Families Poster
Children Should Be Seen and Heard Poster

Choosing Quality Care For Your Child
Counselling Info For Families Flyer
Counselling Info For Families Poster
Family Help line Poster
Family Help line Brochure
Help For Families In Crisis
Internet Usage
Parent Growth Charts (Praise Works Wonders)
Parenting Line Information & Support
Protecting Children From Abuse & Neglect
Report on the Children Services Regulations

Review More Info
Setting Up A Crèche
Your Family Centre

Family and Domestic Violence
Is someone you know being abused?
Amharic
Arabic
Bahasa Indonesia
Chinese
Croatian
Dari
English
Farsi
French
Khmer
Kurdish
Polish

Portuguese
Russian
Serbian
Somali
Spanish
Swahili
Vietnamese

Violence in the Family
Amharic
Arabic
Bahasa Indonesia
Chinese
Croatian
Dari
English
Farsi
French
Khmer
Kurdish
Polish

Portuguese
Russian
Serbian
Somali
Spanish
Swahili
Vietnamese
Being Drunk Is No Excuse
Feeling Winyarn
Has Your Partner Hurt You
Help Is Closer Than You Think
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Help line Posters
How Do I know If I'm Abused
How To Deal With Domestic Violence
Indigenous Family Violence Brochure
Indigenous Family Violence Calendar 2007
Indigenous Family Violence Poster
Referral Cards

We Can Help Poster
We Listen Poster
When You Hurt Your Partner You Hurt Your
African Community Forum On Domestic
Violence
Barriers for Country Men for Accessing
Domestic Violence Services
Indigenous Family Violence
Domestic Violence and the Workplace
Domestic Violence On-Line Resource Guide
Evaluation of Perpetrator Mandatory and
Voluntary Participants in WA
Literature Review on Models of Coordinating
Domestic
Progress Report WA Families and Domestic
Action Progress
The Men's Project-Exploring Responsibilities
WA Family and Domestic Violence Information
Writing A Wrong- DVD
Youth Say No
Life Support (making a difference)
Life Support (Postcards)

Life Support DL Flyer
Life Support Bookmarks
Life Support Posters
Stop Living the Nightmare Flyer
Stop Living the Nightmare Bookmarks
Stop Living the Nightmare Postcard
Stop Living the Nightmare Posters
Trouble At Home Flyer
Trouble At Home Bookmarks
Trouble At Home Postcards
Trouble At Home Posters

Youth Say No Z Card

Managing and Avoiding Debt Booklet
u35 Business Directory Postcards
Youth Media Awards
Piercing Guide for Young People
Piercing Guide Ethical Guidelines and
Legislation
Leavers and the Law
Young People & Alcohol
Understanding Youth Suicide: Information Kit
Information and Support Pack for those
concerned about someone who is distressed or
suicidal
Telling the Emperor
WA Youth Awards Promotional Material
WA Youth Awards Media Reporting
Promotional Materials
Positive Image Award Promotional Materials

Cadet WA Promotional Materials
Cadet WA Funding Information

Women
Good practice in the assessment, skills gap
training and employment of overseas trained
nurses
Women in Science and Technology Brochure
Women's Report Card Measuring Women's
Progress Update 2006
Women's Report Card 2005
Summary Indicators for WA Women 2005
Indigenous Women's Report Card 2005
Indigenous Women's Report Card Summary
2006
Superwomen Women and Superannuation
Gender Analysis in Policy
Women's Information Women's Power
Women's Information Service Pocket Directory
International Women's Day 2008 Post Card
International Women's Day 2008 Book Mark
International Women's Day 2008 Posters
International Women's Day 2008 Brochure
Grace Sydney Vaughan A Profile

Youth
Caterpillar Toothpaste
Fit Mind Fit Body & Soul Kit
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APPENDIX 5: MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
The Ford Review recommended that the Department for Community
Development (DCD) be spilt into two agencies the Department for Child
Protection (DCP) and the Department for Communities (DfC).

With the

creation of the DfC it was agreed that the corporate service functions continue
to be provided by the DCP in order to maintain efficiency, eliminate potential
duplication. The two departments entered into a service level agreement

(SLA) which sets out the framework under which both parties agree to
interact. It sets out the roles and responsibilities of the parties, processes for
variations to services and service standards, monitoring and review

arrangements and problem resolution processes. The agreement articulates
the need for the parties to the agreement to work cooperatively to achieve
both the government's objectives and the service needs of the DfC.
The agreement sets out, in specific and measurable terms, the services to be
provided by the Provider (DCP). It also sets out the obligations of the Client
(DfC) to support the delivery of those services.
The SLA seeks to:
o Facilitate a spirit of partnership and cooperation between the Client and
the Provider.
o
o
o
o

Recognise that the parties have a mutual obligation to support the
successful delivery of business services.
Build a commitment to maintaining a strong long-term relationship.

Define the corporate and business services to be supplied by the
Provider to support the strategic direction of the Client.
Provide mechanisms for the prompt resolution of issues and problems.

The DCP provides a range of support services to the DfC to enable it meet its
objectives. These include:
o

human resource support services including
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o

personnel and payroll processing
occupational health and safety
workers compensation
recruitment and establishment support
labour relations management.

financial and management accounting
building and asset support services
procurement support and
information communication technologies support services.
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APPENDIX 6: GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ACRONYMS
Accountable Authority
ADVIP
ASeTTS
ATSI
CaLD
CCL
CCLSU
CCRCC
CGP
CHARP
COAG
CRIO
DCD
DCP
DEC
DET
DfC
DIAC
DAIP
DoCEP
DoH
DPC
DSR
EAP
EECS
EEO
FaHCSIA
FDV
FINWA
FTE
HSIRT
ICT
IHSS
IIAP
ISC
KPI
LG

LHMU
LSP
MCIMA
MLC
MOU
NAP
NGO
OBM
OEEO
OMI
OSH
OSRG
OWP
PASACS
RCRFDV
SLA
UWA
WACOSS
WANWA
WHO
WOCS

Director General of DfC
Armada le Domestic Violence Intervention Project
Association for Services to Torture and Trauma Survivors Inc..
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse
Carers Counselling Line
Child Care Licensing Standards Unit
Child Care Regulations Consultative Committee
Community Grants Program
Carer Health Awareness & Retreats Program
Council of Australian Governments
Community Relations Integration Officer
Former Department for Community Development
Department for Child Protection
Department of Environment and Conservation
Department of Education and Training
Department for Communities
Department of Immigration and Citizenship
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection
Department of Health
Department of the Premier and Cabinet
Department of Sport and Recreation
Employee Assistance Program
Extra Edge Community Services
Equal Employment Opportunity
Department of Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs
Family and Domestic Violence
Family Inclusion Network of Western Australia
Full Time Equivalent
Human Services Industry Roundtable
Information Communication Technologies
Integrated Humanitarian Settlement Strategy
Inclusion and Integration Action Plan
Integrated Services Centre
Key Performance Indicator
Local Government
Liquor Hospitality and Miscellaneous Union (Australia)
Language Services Policy
Ministerial Council on Immigration and Multicultural Affairs
Member of the Legislative Council
Memorandum of Understanding
National Action Plan
Non Government Organisation
Output Based Management
Office of the Equal Employment Opportunity
Office of Multicultural Interests
Occupational Safety and Health
Outcome Structure Review Group
Office of Women's Policy
Professional Association of School Aged Children Services
Regional Coordination Responses to Family & Domestic Violence
Service Level Agreement
University of Western Australia
Western Australia Council of Social Services
Women's Advisory Network of Western Australia
World Health Organisation
Wheat belt Organisation of Children's Services
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